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MAGISTERIAL DISTRICT COURT
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania : DAUPHIN COUNTY

V. : MJ-12303-CR-0000228-2015

Stephen R. Reed

ORDER

AND NOW, this day of , 2015, upon consideration of
Defendant, Stephen R. Reed’s, Motion to Quash and Dismiss Criminal Offenses and any
Response thereto, it is hereby ORDERED that the following charges are DISMISSED:

Offense # 1, Counts 1-2 — Corrupt Organizations — 18 Pa. Cons. Stat. § 911(b)(2)(3);

Offense # 2, Count 1 — Dealing in Unlawful Activities, 18 Pa. Cons. Stat.
§ 5111(a)(1)(2);

Offense # 3, Counts 1-2, Theft by Deception, 18 Pa. Cons. Stat. § 3922(a)(1);
Offense # 4, Count 1, Theft by Deception, 18 Pa. Cons. Stat. § 3922(a)(1);
Offense # 5, Count 1, Theft by Deception, 18 Pa. Cons. Stat. § 3922,(a)(1);

Offense # 6, Counts 1-7, Bribery in Official and Public Matters, 18 Pa. Cons. Stat.
§ 4701(a)(1);

Offense # 7, Counts 1-158, Misapplication of Entrusted Property and Property of
Government or Financial Institutions, 18 Pa. Cons. Stat. § 4113(a);

Offense # 9, Count 1 — Deceptive Business Practices, 18 Pa. Cons. Stat. § 4107(a)(7);
Offense # 10, Counts 1-3, Criminal Solicitation, 18 PA. Cons. Stat. § 902;
Offense # 14, Counts 1-3 — Theft of Services, 18 Pa. Cons. Stat. § 3926;

Offenses # 15-17, Counts 1-159 — Theft by Unlawful Taking or Disposition, 18 Pa. Cons.
Stat. § 3921

BY THE COURT:




Ballard Spahr LLP Attorneys for Defendant
By: Henry E. Hockeimer, Jr. (I.D. No. 86768) Stephen R. Reed
Terence M. Grugan (I.D. No. 307211)

1735 Market Street, 51st Floor

Philadelphia, PA 19103-7599

Telephone: 215.665.8500

Facsimile: 215.864.8999

MAGISTERIAL DISTRICT COURT

Commonwealth of Pennsylvania : DAUPHIN COUNTY
V. : MJ-12303-CR-0000228-2015
Stephen R. Reed : ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

MOTION TO QUASH AND DISMISS CRIMINAL OFFENSES

Defendant, Stephen R. Reed, by and through his undersigned counsel, hereby
moves this Honorable Court for an Order quashing and dismissing 338 criminal offenses in the
criminal complaint as precluded by the applicable statute of limitations' and, in support thereof,

avers:

Each charge against Defendant is fatally deficient for numerous legal and factual reasons
and, therefore, subject to dismissal on other grounds. However, as the applicability of
statutes of limitations or exceptions to statutes of limitations raises a question of law,
which will be dispositive as to the vast majority of charges asserted by the
Commonwealth, Commonwealth v. Riding, 68 A.3d 990, 993 (Pa. Super. Ct. 2013), this
brief focuses on only this legal issue. Moreover, because addressing the applicability of
the statute of limitations to the charges brought by the Commonwealth will result in the
dismissal of 338 of 499 criminal offenses arising under 8 of 11 asserted statutory
provisions, resolution of this issue at this early juncture is appropriate in the interest of
judicial economy.




INTRODUCTION

1. This prosecution is predicated on allegations concerning the conduct of the
Harrisburg city government during former Mayor Stephen R. Reed’s terms as Mayor, which
began in 1981 and ended on January 4, 2010. Indeed, 338 of 499 charges arising under 8 of 11
asserted statutory provisions are based on factual allegations alleged to have occurred no later
than January 2010 and reach back as far as December 24, 1990.

2. However, as set forth below, the statute of limitations applicable to each offense
is limited to either two or five years. See 42 Pa. Cons. Stat. § 5552(a), (b). Indeed, the policy
espoused by the Pennsylvania Supreme Court is that statutes of limitations are to be liberally
applied in cases such as this where the Office of the Attorney General has brought charges based
on facts up to thirty-five years old “to protect individuals from having to defend themselves
against charges when the basic facts may have become obscured by the passage of time and to
minimize the danger of official punishment because of acts in the far-distant past.”

Commonwealth v. Cardonick, 292 A.2d 402, 407-08 (1972). Thus, as a matter of law and

policy, because the vast majority of charges asserted are untimely from the face of the complaint,
they should be dismissed.

3. The Office of the Attorney General may argue that an exception contained in 42
Pa. Cons. Stat. § 5552(c)(2), and which applies to charges asserted against public officials, tolled
the statute of limitations. However, any such reliance on § 5552(c)(2) is misplaced because,
consistent with the policy considerations underlying statutes of limitations, that exception is
applicable only where the prosecution was brought “when the defendant is in public office or

employment or within five years thereafter.” Because Defendant left office on January 4, 2010



and these charges were not brought until July 14, 2015, the public official exception contained in
§ 5552(c)(2) does not apply and these charges are therefore untimely and must be dismissed.

FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

4, Defendant, Stephen R. Reed (“Defendant” or “Reed”), is the former mayor of the
City of Harrisburg, who was first elected to the office in 1981. Defendant was re-elected as
Mayor in 1985, 1989, 1993, 1997, 2001, and 2005. In May 2009, Defendant lost the democratic
primary and left office on January 4, 2010. (See Presentment No. 21 at 6 (June 18, 2015), a true
and correct copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit A.)

5. On July 14, 2015, the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania Office of the Attorney
General (“OAG”) issued a criminal complaint (the “Complaint”), following the issuance of
Presentment No. 21 by the Thirty-Seventh Statewide Investigating Grand Jury on June 18, 2015
(the “Presentment”), charging defendant, Stephen R. Reed (“Defendant” or “Reed”) with 499
offenses under 11 separate statutory provisions:

. 18 Pa. Cons. Stat. § 911(b)(2)(3) (Corrupt Organizations — 2 counts);

. 18 Pa. Cons. Stat. § 5111(a)(1)(2) (Dealing in Proceeds of Unlawful Activities — 2
counts;

. 18 Pa. Cons. Stat. § 3922(a)(1) (Theft by Deception — 4 counts);

] 18 Pa. Cons. Stat. § 4701(a)(1) (Bribery in Official and Public Matters —7
counts);

. 18 Pa. Cons. Stat. § 4113(a) (Misapplication of Entrusted Property and Property
of Government or Financial Institutions — 158 counts);

] 18 Pa. Cons. Stat. § 4910(a)(1) (Tampering with or Fabricating Physical Evidence

— 1 count);
° 18 Pa. Cons. Stat. § 4107(a)(7) (Deceptive Business Practices — 1 count);
] 18 Pa. Cons. Stat. § 902 (Criminal Solicitation — 3 counts);

o 18 Pa. Cons. Stat. § 3925 (Theft by Receiving Stolen Property — 159 counts);



. 18 Pa. Cons. Stat. § 3926 (Theft of Services — 3 counts);

. 18 Pa. Cons. Stat. § 3921 (Theft by Unlawful Taking or Disposition — 159
counts).

(A true and correct copy of the Complaint is attached hereto as Exhibit B.)

6. The charges against Mr. Reed purport to be based upon the facts and
recommendations set forth in the Presentment.”

7. The Presentment is focused exclusively on aspects of Harrisburg city governance
occurring during Defendant’s terms as Mayor, which, as noted, ended on January 4, 2010.
Specifically, the Presentment details municipal bond issuances made by the Harrisburg Authority
in 1993, 1996, 1997, 1998, 2000, 2002, 2003, and 2007; the Harrisburg Parking Authority in
2000, 2001, and 2003, and the Harrisburg School District in 2003.

8. The thesis of the Presentment appears to be that certain fees retained by the
Harrisburg Authority in connection with each bond issuance were improperly used through a
“special projects fund” established at the Harrisburg Authority to fund various city economic

development projects, including a National Civil War Museum, National Museum of the

3%

The Affidavit of Probable Cause supporting the Complaint explicitly states: “The OAG's
Investigation has utilized the 37th Statewide Investigative Grand Jury seated In
Allegheny County under Presentment No. 21, same accepted by order of the Honorable
Norman A. Krumencker, m, Supervising Judge. This Presentment, attached to this
affidavit and Incorporated herein by reference, recommends charges to be filed by the
Attorney General or her designee, against the defendant, Stephen R. Reed.” However,
the Complaint does not adhere to the recommendations of the Grand Jury, charging three
offenses not recommended by the Grand Jury — Tampering with or Fabricating Physical
Evidence, 18 Pa. Cons. Stat. § 4910(a)(1), Criminal Solicitation, 18 Pa. Cons. Stat. § 902,
and Theft by Unlawful Taking or Disposition, 18 Pa. Cons. Stat. § 3921 — and omitting
three charges recommended by the Grand Jury — Misapplication of the Property of the
Government, 18 Pa. Cons. Stat. § 4113, Tampering with Records, 18 Pa. Cons. Stat.
4104, and Theft by Failure to Make Required Disposition, 18 Pa. Cons. Stat. § 3927.



American West, and National Sports Hall of Fame.’ Indeed, the Complaint includes 21 charges
under 7 separate statutory provisions asserting personal criminal liability against Defendant for
the creation and administration of the “special projects fund” despite acknowledging that the
“special projects fund” was created upon the advice of legal and financial advisors, with the
approval of the board of directors of the Harrisburg Authority and all appropriations were made
from the Harrisburg Authority knowingly in pursuit of economic development projects,
including the National Museum of the American West, by the Harrisburg Authority board of
directors.

9. Critically for purposes of this motion, the facts giving rise to these 21 charges all
occurred as far back as December 24, 1990 and none more recently than January 2010:

. Offense # 1 — Corrupt Organizations — 2 counts

While the Presentment discusses the alleged impropriety of the City of Harrisburg
purchasing artifacts for use in a proposed National Museum of the American West and
charges Defendant with numerous criminal offenses related to those purchases, the
Presentment establishes that funds set aside in the special projects funds were spent on
numerous civic projects that did not give rise to any alleged criminal liability. (See
Presentment at 7 (explaining that “the initial projects paid for by this fund included
installing lights on the Walnut Street Bridge and creating a running trail on City
Island”).) The Presentment contains no explanation of why the authorized expenditure of
“special project” funds by the Harrisburg Authority to be spent on “installing lights on
the Walnut Street Bridge and creating a running trail on City Island” does not give rise to
criminal liability while the authorized expenditure of “special project” funds on a
potential National Museum of the American West does, beyond suggesting that because
the latter authorized civic project did not come to fruition, criminal liability may attach
after-the-fact. Indeed, statements by the OAG appear to indicate that it is the nature of
the items purchased and not the means and manner of their purchase that is driving the
instant criminal case against Defendant. See, e.g., Harrisburg Grand Jury Report Goes
Beyond the Former Mayor; Keystone Crossroads (July 15, 2015) (““As opposed to
spending money on cops, or on pipes that work and don’t need to be refitted in 2015, it
was spent on this menagerie of collectibles and curiosities — and that is a fraud on
investors,” [Deputy Attorney General Clarke] Madden says.”) Again, neither the
Complaint nor the Presentment contains any basis to distinguish, for purposes of
imposing personal criminal liability upon the Defendant, between expending “special
projects” funds “on cops” or on other civic projects.



Count 1: “That on and about diverse dates from December 24, 1990 through
January 2010, the Defendant, a person, unlawfully through a pattern of
racketeering activity that includes but is not limited to acts which are indictable
under Chapter 47 (relating to bribery and corrupt influence) and Chapter 39
(relating to theft offenses), acquired or maintained, directly or indirectly, any
interest in or control of the enterprise then known as The Harrisburg Authority.”

Count 2: “On or about diverse dates from December 24, 1990 through January
2010, the defendant, a person employed by or associated with the enterprise,
participated, either directly or indirectly in the conduct of The Harrisburg
Authority’s affairs through a pattern of racketeering activities that includes but is
not limited to acts which are indictable under Chapter 47 (relating to bribery and
corrupt influence) and Chapter 39 (relating to theft offenses).”

Offense # 2 — Dealing in Proceeds of Unlawful Activities

Count 1: “On or about diverse dates from January 1, 2000 through September
7, 2007 the defendant conducted a financial transaction with the knowledge that
the property involved, including stolen or illegally obtained property, represents
the proceeds of unlawful activity, the defendant acted with the intent to promote
the carrying on of the unlawful activity.

Offense # 3 — Theft By Deception — 2 counts

Count 1: “On or about September 2003, the defendant intentionally obtained
property with a value over $500,000 from the Harrisburg School District by
deception with respect to the closing costs of its 2003 debt offering.”

Count 2: “On or about various dates from May 2000 to January 2010 the
defendant intentionally obtained property with a value over $500,000.00 from the
Harrisburg Parking Authority by deception be transferring monies into the special
projects fund.”

Offense # 4 — Theft By Deception — 1 count

Count 1: “On or about diverse dates between June 2008 and December 2008, the
defendant intentionally obtained or withheld property of the City of Harrisburg,
by deception in an amount in excess of $2,000.00 and less than $100,000.00 with
respect to invoices submitted for travel reimbursement.”

Offense # 5 — Theft By Deception 1 count

Count 1: “On or about diverse dates between 2004 and December 2008, the
defendant intentionally obtained or withheld property of the City of Harrisburg by
deception in an amount in excess of $100,000.00 and less than $500,000.00 with
respect to expenses for the National Sports Hall of Fame Foundation.”

Offense # 6 — Bribery in Official and Political Matters — 7 counts



Count 1: “On or about diverse dates between Qctober 1999 and December 31,
2003, the defendant offered, conferred or agreed to confer upon Richard House
the position as ‘Director of Community Relations’ for the Harrisburg Senators
Baseball team as consideration for the decision, vote, recommendation or other
exercise of official discretion by the recipient in a judicial, administrative or
legislative proceeding.

Counts 2-7: “On or about diverse dates between 2003 and December 14, 2005,
the defendant offered, conferred or agreed to confer upon (6) members of the
Harrisburg city council a benefit as consideration for their decision, vote,
recommendation or other exercise of official discretion by the recipient in a
judicial, administrative or legislative proceeding.”

Offense # 9 — Deceptive Business Practices

Count 1: “On or about September 2003, the defendant, in the course of business,
made or induced others to rely on false or misleading written statements with
respect to the closing costs of the Harrisburg School District 2003 debt offering
for the purpose of promoting the sale of securities, or omitted information
required by law to be disclosed in written documents related to securities.”

Offense # 10 — Criminal Solicitation — 3 counts

Count 1: “On or about August 17, 2004, the defendant, with the intent of
promoting or facilitating its commission, he commanded, encouraged or requested
another person to falsify a leave record for Richard Pickles.”

Count 2: “On or about August 3. 2005, the defendant, with the intent of
promoting or facilitating its commission, he commanded, encouraged or requested
another person to falsify a leave record for Richard Pickles.”

Count 3: “On or about February 12, 2007, the defendant, with the intent of
promoting or facilitating its commission, he commanded, encouraged or requested
another person to falsify a leave record for Richard Pickles.”

Offense # 14 — Theft of Services — 3 counts

Count 1: “On or about May 10-17, 2004, the defendant who had control over the
disposition of services of others to which he is not entitled, knowingly diverted
the services of Richard Pickles to his own benefit or to the benefit of another not
entitled thereto.”

Count 2: “On or about July 8-17, 2005, the defendant who had control over the
disposition of services of others to which he is not entitled, knowingly diverted
the services of Richard Pickles to his own benefit or to the benefit of another not
entitled thereto.”




o Count 3: “On or about November 29-December 13, 2006, the defendant who had
control over the disposition of services of others to which he is not entitled,
knowingly diverted the services of Richard Pickles to his own benefit or to the
benefit of another not entitled thereto.”

10.  In addition, the Commonwealth alleges to have seized 158 artifacts® belonging to
the City of Harrisburg during its execution of search warrants on Defendant’s home and office.
For each item allegedly belonging to the City of Harrisburg, the Complaint charges three
separate theft offenses: Misapplication of Entrusted Property and Property of Government or
Financial Institutions (Offense # 7, 158 Counts); Theft by Receiving Stolen Property (Offenses #
11-13; 159 Counts); Theft by Unlawful Taking or Disposition (Offenses # 15-17; 159 Counts).5

11.  The Presentment contains no facts or theories as to how the alleged thefts — which
account for 476 of the 499 charges asserted against the Defendant — occurred, beyond positing
that many of the items seized appear to resemble items that had, at one time, appeared on an
inventory of City-owned property.’ Nevertheless, the Complaint is explicit that the 158 counts

of Misapplication of Entrusted Property and Property of Government or Financial Institutions

The Criminal Complaint states that there are 158 artifacts collectively listed in
Attachments A, B, and C to it and purports to charge one count of Misapplication of
Entrusted Property and Property of Government, one count of Theft by Receiving Stolen
Property, and one count of Theft by Unlawful Taking for each artifact seized. However,
only 153 items appear collectively in Attachments A, B, and C and several items are
listed in both Attachments B and C.

There is no explanation in the Criminal Complaint for why Defendant has been charged
with 158 counts of Misapplication of Entrusted Property and Property of Government or
Financial Institutions but 159 counts for both Theft by Receiving Stolen Property and
Theft by Unlawful Taking.

Defendant has, through counsel and on numerous occasions, made requests of both the
OAG and the City of Harrisburg for a copy of the inventory of City-owned property
referenced in the Presentment. The OAG has refused Defendant’s request and the City of
Harrisburg has provided no response to Defendant’s numerous right-to-know requests
seeking this property list and other public records.



and the 159 counts of Theft by Unlawful Taking or Disposition occurred in January 2010,

presumably at the time Defendant left office on January 4, 2010:

Offense # 7 — Misapplication of Entrusted Property and Property of Government
or Financial Institutions — 158 counts

Counts 1-158: “On or about January 2010, the defendant disposed of property of
the government (see Attachments A, B and C), namely the city of Harrisburg, in a
manner which he knows is unlawful and involves a substantial risk of loss or
detriment to the owner of the property or to a person for whose benefit the
property was entrusted.”

Offenses # 15-17 — Theft by Unlawful Taking or Disposition — 159 Counts

Counts 1-29: “On or about January 2010, the defendant exercised unlawful
control over movable property (see Attachment A) of the City of Harrisburg with
the intent to deprive the city thereof.”

Counts 30-139: “On or about January 2010, the defendant exercised unlawful
control over movable property of the City of Harrisburg (see Attachment B) with
the intent to deprive the city thereof.”

Counts 140-159: “On or about January 2010, the defendant exercised unlawful
control over the movable property of the City of Harrisburg (see Attachment C)
with the intent to deprive the city thereof.

DISCUSSION

12.

The Pennsylvania Supreme Court has long recognized and affirmed the

importance of statutes of limitations as a critical tool for ensuring fairness in our criminal justice

system, explaining:

The Supreme Court observed in Toussie v. United States, 397 U.S.
112,90 S.Ct. 858 [25 L.Ed.2d 156] (1970): "The purpose of a
statute of limitations is to limit exposure to criminal prosecution to
a certain fixed period of time following the occurrence of those
acts the legislature has decided to punish by criminal sanctions.
Such a limitation is designed to protect individuals from having to
defend themselves against charges when the basic facts may have
become obscured by the passage of time and to minimize the
danger of official punishment because of acts in the far-distant
past. Such a time limit may also have the salutary effect of
encouraging law enforcement officials promptly to investigate
suspected criminal activity." Id. at 114-15, 90 S.Ct. at 860. The




burden of defending against long completed conduct is onerous
because "[a]s time passes, witnesses upon whom the defendant
may need to rely die or move away; events are forgotten and
records lost, particularly if the events seemed unimportant at the
time of occurrence."

Commonwealth v. Cardonick, 292 A.2d 402, 407-08 (1972).

13. Because of the importance of statutes of limitations to protecting individuals from
the prejudices resulting from prosecution of stale criminal charges, the Supreme Court has held
that “statutes of limitations must be liberally construed in favor of the defendant and against the
Commonwealth.” Id. at 407. |

14. Here, the OAG has brought 338 charges against Defendant that plainly fall
outside of the applicable statutes of limitations, attempting to predicate these charges on events
occurring as far back as 1990 and none more recently that January 2010.

15, With the exception of the 158 counts of Misapplication of Entrusted Property and
Property of Government or Financial Institutions under 18 Pa. Cons. Stat. § 41 13(a), which

carries a two year statute of limitations, see In re Anonymous No. 35 D.B. 91, 19 Pa. D. & C. 4th

130, 140 n.2 (Pa. Disc. Bd. 1992), each charge against Defendant is subject to a five year statute
of limitations requiring the Commonwealth to commence a prosecution within five years after it
is committed. 42 Pa. Cons. Stat. § 5552(b).

16. 42 Pa. Cons. Stat. § 5552(d) defines “[c]omission of offense” as occurring “when
every element occurs, or, if a legislative purpose to prohibit a continuing course of conduct
plainly appears, at the time when the course of conduct or the complicity of the defendant therein
is terminated. Time starts to run on the day after the offense is committed.”

17. 42 Pa. Cons. Stat. § 5552(e) defines “[c]Jommencement of prosecution” as

occurring “either when an indictment is found or an information under section 893 1(b) (relating

10



to indictment and information) is issued, or when a warrant, summons or citation is issued, if
such warrant, summons or citation is executed without unreasonable delay.”

18.  The following offenses charged against defendant are non-continuing offenses
thus requiring the OAG to have charged Defendant with them within five years of their alleged
commission: 18 Pa. Cons. Stat. § 5111(a)(1)(2) (Dealing in Proceeds of Unlawful Activities); 18
Pa. Cons. Stat. § 3922(a)(1) (Theft by Deception); 18 Pa. Cons. Stat. § 4701(a)(1) (Bribery in
Official and Public Matters); 18 Pa. Cons. Stat. § 4910(a)(1) (Tampering with or Fabricating
Physical Evidence); 18 Pa. Cons. Stat. § 4107(a)(7) (Deceptive Business Practices); 18 Pa. Cons.
Stat. § 902 (Criminal Solicitation — 3 counts); 18 Pa. Cons. Stat. § 3925 (Theft by Receiving
Stolen Property — 159 counts); 18 Pa. Cons. Stat. § 3926 (Theft of Services — 3 counts); 18 Pa.
Cons. Stat. § 3921 (Theft by Unlawful Taking or Disposition — 159 counts).

19.  The OAG has charged Defendant with 178 offenses under the above statutes that
are alleged to have been committed as early as September 2003 and no later than January 2010.
According to the facts alleged in the Complaint and Presentment and under 42 Pa. Cons. Stat.

§ 5552(b), the five year statute of limitations for the following charged offenses expired on the
following dates:

° 18 Pa. Cons. Stat. § 5111(a)(1)(2) (Dealing in Proceeds of Unlawful Activities)

o Offense #2, Count 1 — September 7, 2012;
. 18 Pa. Cons. Stat. § 3922(a)(1) (Theft by Deception)
o Offense # 3, Count 1 — September 2008;
o Offense # 3, Count 2 — January 2015;
o Offense # 4, Count 1 — December 2013;
o Offense # 5, Count 1 —December 2013;

° 18 Pa. Cons. Stat. § 4701(a)(1) (Bribery in Official and Public Matters)

11



20.

Offense # 6, Count 1 — December 31, 2008;

Offense # 6, Counts 2-7 — December 14, 2010;

18 Pa. Cons. Stat. § 4107(a)(7) (Deceptive Business Practices)
Offense # 9, Count 1 — September 2008;

18 Pa. Cons. Stat. § 902 (Criminal Solicitation — 3 counts)
Offense # 10, Count 1 — August 17, 2009;

Offense # 10, Count 2 — August 3, 2010;

Offense # 10, Count 3 — February 12, 2012;

18 Pa. Cons. Stat. § 3926 (Theft of Services — 3 counts)
Offense # 14, Count 1 — May 17, 2009;

Offense # 14, Count 2 — July 17, 2010;

Offense # 14, Count 3 — December 13, 2011

18 Pa. Cons. Stat. § 3921 (Theft by Unlawful Taking or Disposition — 159
counts).

Offenses # 15-17, Counts 1-159 — January 2015.

18 Pa. Cons. Stat. § 4113(a) (Misapplication of Entrusted Property and Property

of Government or Financial Institutions) is also a non-continuing offense with a two year statute

of limitations. See 42 Pa. Cons. Stat. § 5552(a). According to the Complaint, 159 counts of

misapplication of entrusted property and property of government or financial institutions

occurred in January 2010. Thus, the state of limitations on these offenses expired in January

2012.

21.

18 Pa. Cons. Stat. § 911(b)(2)(3) (Corrupt Organizations) is considered a

continuing offense “so long as the person who committed the violation continues to receive any

benefit from the violation.” 18 Pa. Cons. Stat. § 911(c). To determine when the five-year statute

of limitations applicable to corrupt organizations charges begins to run, Courts are required to

12



determine when a defendant last received a benefit from conducting the affairs of the alleged

enterprise through a pattern of racketeering. Commonwealth v. Lavelle, III, 555 A.2d 213, 222

(Pa. Super. Ct. 1989). Thus, for instance, where, like here, the alleged pattern of racketeering
activity underlying a corrupt organizations offense involves theft offenses, the statute of
limitations begins to run at the time the Defendant last receives property through the predicate
offenses. Id.

22.  According to the Complaint, Defendant is charged with receiving property
belonging to the City of Harrisburg in January 2010. Accordingly, the statute of limitations

began to run for the corrupt organizations charge in January 2010 and expired in January 2015.°

-

The OAG’s corrupt organizations charges allege that Defendant acquired and exercised
control over the Harrisburg Authority “from December 24, 1990 through January 2010”
presumably by virtue of the fact that Defendant, as Mayor of Harrisburg, appointed the
Harrisburg Authority’s board of directors, as he was statutorily required to under the
Municipal Authorities Act, 53 Pa. Cons. Stat. § 5610(a)(1).

8 The OAG has also charged Defendant with 159 counts of Theft by Receiving Stolen
Property. According to the Complaint, “[o]n or about diverse dates from April 2015 to
June 2015, the defendant intentionally received, retained or disposed of movable property
[identified in Attachments A, B, and C to the Complaint] of the City of Harrisburg
knowing that it had been stolen, or believing that it had probably been stolen.” This
charge does not extend the statute of limitations. First, though not explicitly alleged, it
appears that the dates the OAG is alleging these offenses to have occurred is the date that
search warrants executed on Defendant’s home and office were executed, revealing items
the OAG alleges belong to the City of Harrisburg and that are alleged by the
Commonwealth to have been taken unlawfully by the Defendant in January 2010.
Accordingly, the OAG’s theory of this offense appears to be that defendant retained the
identified property as of April 2015 to June 2015. As discussed, the statute of limitations
for corrupt organizations runs from the date the benefit of alleged racketeering activity
was last received. 18 Pa. Cons. Stat. § 911(c). Defendant’s continued retention of
property does not extend the limitations period to when the Commonwealth has
discovered it. See Lavelle, 555 A.2d at 222 (rejecting Commonwealth argument that
defendant’s continued retention of illicitly obtained property tolled statute of limitations
for corrupt organizations charge holding “[i]f we were to accept the argument of the
Commonwealth, we would be forced to conclude that because the loans remain unpaid,
appellant is still enjoying a benefit and that, as a result, the statutory period of limitations
has not yet commenced. This argument is spurious since it ignores the plain language of
section 911(c) which tolls the statute for only so long as benefits are ‘received,’ rather

13



23.  The OAG apparently will rely on the public official exception to extend any of the
above expired statutes of limitations. Such reliance, however, is misplaced. 42 Pa. Cons. Stat.
§ 5552(c)(2) provides a tolling exception to statutes of limitations permitting the Commonwealth
to charge otherwise stale criminal conduct of a public official committed while the official was
within office so long as two conditions are met: (1) the prosecution must be commenced either
while the defendant is still in office or within five years of the defendant leaving oﬂffice; and (2)
the exception cannot be applied to extend an applicable statute of limitations by more than eight
years.
24, Section 5552(c)(2) provides, in full:
If the period prescribed in subsection (a), (b) or (b.1) has expired, a
prosecution may nevertheless be commenced for . . . [a]ny offense
committed by a public officer or employee in the course of or in
connection with his office or employment at any time when the
defendant is in public office or employment or within five years

thereafter, but in no case shall this paragraph extend the period of
limitation otherwise applicable by more than eight years.

25.  The plain language of the public official exception is clear — to apply to extend an
otherwise expired statute of limitations, the prosecution must be commenced “at any time when
the defendant is in public office or employment or within five years thereafter.” As explained by
the Superior Court, “if the offense was committed by a public officer or employee in the course
of or in connection with his or her office or employment at the time when he or she was an
officer or employee, the prosecution could be commenced within five years after the person left

the office or employment provided that this did not extend the period of limitations by more than

than ‘enjoyed,” and would result in the elimination of the statute of limitations in many, if
not all, prosecutions under the Act”). Second, and more fundamentally, the alleged theft
by receiving stolen property cannot be held to be part of a pattern of racketeering activity
because it allegedly occurred over five years after Defendant left office and last had any
involvement whatsoever with the alleged “enterprise” — the Harrisburg Authority.
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eight years beyond the period otherwise applicable." Commonwealth v. O’Donnell, 542 A.2d

1025, 1026 (Pa. Super. Ct. 1988).

26. Defendant left office on January 4, 2010. This prosecution was not commenced
until July 14, 2015, when the Complaint was issued, over five years and six months after
Defendant left public office and employment. Thus, according to the plain language of
§ 5552(c), each charged offense occurring in January 2010 or earlier — 338 total charges, see
9 5, 7, infra — is untimely and must be dismissed.

27. The Commonwealth will likely rely on the last phrase in § 5552(c)(2) and

language contained in Commonwealth v. O’Kicki, 597 A.2d 152, 164 (1991), to argue that the

public official exception creates a general eight year extension to statutes of limitations for
crimes committed while the defendant was in office. This position would misread the O’ Kicki
decision and defy the plain language of § 5552(c)(3). In O’Kicki, an elected official was charged
in 1989 with official oppression based on actions occurring ten years earlier. Id. at 164. A two
year statute of limitations applied to charges for official oppression. Id. In holding that the
prosecution was timely, the court explained:

In 1978 the general statute of limitations applicable to the offense
was two years with the exception that if the period had expired, the
period was extended to the period while the alleged perpetrator is
still in public office or employment, but in no case is the statute
extended by more than three years. Effective December 1978, the
exception was enlarged to the time of occupancy of office or
employment or within five years thereafter, but not beyond eight
years. Therefore, an offense with a two year statute of limitation
where the alleged actor continued to occupy public office, the
maximum time for commencement of prosecution is ten years (two
plus eight) 42 Pa.C.S.A. § 5552(c)(2).

Id. However, the O’Kicki court did not hold that § 5552(c)(2) provided a general eight year
extension to statutes of limitations. Instead, the O’Kicki court, consistent with the language of

§ 5552(c)(2), explained that “an offense with a two year statute of limitation where the alleged
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actor continued to occupy public office, the maximum time for commencement of prosecution

is ten years (two plus eight).” Id. (emphasis added). Compare 42 Pa. Cons. Stat. § 5552(c)(2)
(stating that a prosecution can be commenced “at any time when the defendant is in public office
or employment or within five years thereafter, but in no case shall this paragraph extend the
period of limitation otherwise applicable by more than eight years™). Thus, the O’Kicki court
faced a situation where the maximum extension could be applied because the defendant there
was still in office at the time of the commencement of the prosecution.

28.  Because Defendant was not in public office or employment at the time this
prosecution was commenced, the maximum extension discussed in O’Kicki does not apply.
Instead, because defendant is a former public official, charges are required to have been brought
against him within five years after he left public office in order for the public official exception
to apply to extend the otherwise expired statutes of limitations. See Commonwealth v. Roberts,
969 A.2d 594, 597 n.7 (Pa. Super. Ct. 2009) (explaining that “[t]he 1991 amendment to 42 Pa.
Cons. Stat. Ann. § 5552(c) allows for prosecution of crimes by public officials, notwithstanding

the statute of limitations, so long as the individual is so employed or within 5 years of his

departure from public employment™). (emphasis added).

29. Moreover, reading § 5552(c)(2) to have created a general eight year extension to
statutes of limitations would render the phrase “at any time when the defendant is in public office
or employment or within five years thereafter” superfluous, contrary to the tools of statutory
construction, which require that “[e]very statute shall be construed, if possible, to give effect to
all of its provisions.” 1 Pa. Cons. Stat. § 1921(a). In other words, there is no possible way to
read and apply all provisions in § 5552(c)(2) while holding that it applies to permit the

prosecution of the untimely charges discussed herein.
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30. Accordingly, because the public official exception does not apply to extend the
limitations period applicable to the charged discussed herein, they are untimely and must be
dismissed.’

CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth above, Defendant, Stephen R. Reed, respectfully requests
that this Honorable Court issue an order quashing and dismissing the criminal charges outlined

above as barred by the applicable statute of limitations.

Respectfully submitted,

Dated: September 10, 2015 ‘H‘é “@\IA
Henry E. Hockeimer, Jr.
Terence M. Grugan
BALLARD SPAHR LLP
1735 Market Street, S1st Floor
Philadelphia, PA 19103-7599

Attorneys for Defendant
Stephen R. Reed

Nor could the OAG argue that the charges are timely because the offenses have been
recently “discovered.” First, discovery of the offense does not apply to toll any of the
applicable limitations periods. Second, as acknowledged by the Attorney General in
announcing these charges, the public has been aware of the facts of this case since at least
2003. Indeed, current-Mayor Papenfuse, credited by the Attorney General with not
“letting it go” by publicly discussing the allegations contained in the presentment for
numerous years, had himself acknowledged that as early as 2007 both the FBI and the
OAG under former Attorney General Corbett examined the same facts the OAG has now
criminally charged and declined to bring any charges against Defendant or anyone else.
Only the Attorney General can know why these charges, which had been subject to OAG
investigation for at least eight years, involve virtually no facts following Defendant’s
departure from office on January 4, 2010 — five and one-half years before the
commencement of this prosecution — and which are plainly facially barred by the statute
of limitations were brought at all and at this time.
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IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS
ALLEGHENY COUNTY, PENNSYLVANIA

IN RE: : SUPREME COURT OF PENNSYLVANIA .
: 64 W.D. MISC. DKT. 2013

THE THIRTY-SEVENTH STATEWIDE : |
: ALLEGHENY COUNTY COMMON PLEAS

INVESTIGATING GRAND JURY : CP-02-MD-4931-2013
: NOTICE NO. 11

ORDER ACCEPTING PRESENTMENT NO. 21
-1 The Court finds Presentment No. 21 of the Thirty-Seventh Statewide Investigating Grand

Jury is within the Authority of said Grand Jury and is in accordance with the provisions of the
Investigating Grand Jury Act, 42 Pa.C.S.A. §4541, et seq. Accordingly, this Presentment is
accepted by the Court.2. The C"ounty for conducting the trial of all charges pursuant to this
Presentment shall be Dauphin County.

3. The Attomey General of th;: Commonwealth of Pemsylv@ or her designes, is
hereby authorized to prosecute as recommended m this Presentment by instituting appropriate

criminal proceedings in the aforesaid County.

SO ORDERED, this /& dayof % 2015,

Nonnanl { enacker, III, Supervising Judge
Thirty-Seventh Statewide Investigating Grand Jury




IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS
ALLEGHENY COUNTY, PENNSYLVANIA

IN RE: ; : SUPREME COURT OF PENNSYLVANIA

: : : 64 W.D. MISC. DKT. 2013

THE THIRTY-SEVENTH STATEWTDE :
' : ALLEGHENY COUNTY COMMON PLEAS

INVESTIGATING GRAND JURY : CP-02-MD-4931-2013

: NOTICE NO. i1

PRESENTMENT NO. 21

We, the Thirfy—Sevepth Statewide Investigaﬁhg Grand Jury, duly charged to inquire into
-offenses against the criminal laws of the Commonwealth, have obtained knowledge of such
matters from witnesses sworn by the Court and testifying before us. We find reasonable grounds
| to believe that various violations of the criminal laws have occurred. So ﬁndmg with not fewer-

| than twelve concumng, we do hereby make this Presentment to the Court.

Foreperson.
Thnty—SeVenth Statewide Investlgatmg Grand Jury

Dated: (f —/ {= /5" 2015




INTRODUCTION

We, the members of the M—Séventh Statewide Investigating Grand Jury, having
received and reviewed evidence regarding allegations of violations of the Pennsylvania Crimes
Code and related laws, occurring in Dauphin County, Pennsylvania, pursuant to Notice of
Sujamission of Investigation Number 11, do hereby make the following findings of fact,

conclusions, and recommendation of charges.
FINDINGS OF FACT
This investigation was commenced upon. a conﬂictl referral from the Dauphin County
District Attorney’s Office. It concerned allegations of potential criminal misconduct with
respect to the ﬁnaﬁcing, operation, and management of the Hm:risbur‘g Resource Recavery
Facility or Whai has-popularly become known as the “incinerator.” Over time, this Grand Jury’s
inquiry broadened in scope to receive and consider evidence of misconduct in the administration

of other Harmishurg municipal entities and by officials of the Harrisburg City government.

Much has been written clséwhere about the public debt crisis Which;:emllted from the
decision by Harrisburg éity, Dauphin County, and state public officials, to encumber the region
thro}ugh’serial issuance of public debt in the forlom ixope of transforming the ‘fncinerator_’ intoa
| profitable enterprise. The Forensic Audit prepared for the Harrisburg Authority coﬁ:i:zises a

thoughtful and, this Grand Jury finds, accurate exegesis of the incinerator project.

This Grand Jury, however, finds that the root canses of this crisis were endemic to
- Harrisburg city government itself at the time. The misguided decisions which later became
criminal misconduct are visible in a number of civic institutions which this Grand Jury has

studied.




The scope and complexity of this invesﬁgaﬁbn make précis difficult but, in short, this

Gtand'JuIy ﬁnds that then Mayor Stephen Reed, abeited by associates in govei:nment and the
professional community, exploited the availability of capital in the municipal debf market to
raise money for purposes utterly unrelated to the civic project for which a given boﬁd was issued.
In other words, in every mstance thls Grand Jury examined, Reed and his assocmies marketed
and sold bonds for one purpose, such as retcoﬁthng the incinerator or renovating schools, then
diverted at least some of those proceeds to buy things in which Reed was interested and to create

: fees payable to a coterie of professionals.

This model of the issuance of public debt for one purpose and the expendltme of |
proceeds on tctally mxrelaicd goods and services appears in not just the former Harrisburg
Authority, but in the Harrishurg School District, the Harrisburg Civic Baseball Club, the
Harrisburg University of Science and Technology, and other municipal enterprises. Each was
éxp'loii‘.ed»to Taise capital ostensibly necessary for a legitimate puipose and each was damaged
under the crushing weight of the debt incurred in it;; name. Itisthe invesﬁgaﬁon of this c.engine
of debt which drove the City of Hamsburg mexorably into receivership, and Stephen Reed’s role ;
in fueling it, Whmh is the subject of this presentment. Accordingly, the instant presentment i is
addressed to the alleged criminal szconductAof Stephen Reed only. Thlspresentment is issued
in furtherance of the Thjrtj(-Seventh Statewide Investigating Grand Jury’s ongoing investigation-

 into allegations of misconduct by those named herein and others as yet unnamed.

This presentment will address the role of each municipal entity in what became the ‘Reed
model’ of the misuse of public debt and other pub]ic‘ funds. Additional findings of fact and a

recommendation of criminal charges follow.




Stephen Reed graduated from Bishop McDevitt High School in Harrisburg in 1967. He

attended Dickenson College but left off his studies prior to graduation in favor of pursuing a

career in politics.

In 1974, when he was only 25 years old, Reed won a seat in Pennsylvania’s House of

Representatives. He served three terms there before departing in 1980. -

In 1981, Reed was-elected Mayor of the Cxty of Harrisburg, an office he would hold
without mtenupﬁon or meanmgﬁ:l opposition until J annary 4,2010. A dynamlc and forceful
personality, Reed would come 1o exercise near absolute coritrol over the offices and institutions

of the city he govemned.

Undoubtedly, Reed did much that was good for the City of Harrisburg and its residents.
This Grand Jury finds however that, over time, the prudent stewardéhip and innovative thinking
which Reed brought to his office early on gave way to a use of public money and other resources

‘to gratify his own interests at the city’s expense.

I “INCINERATOR?” AND THE HARRISBURG AUTHORITY

‘In December of 1993, the City of Harrisburg sold the Resource Recovery Facility,

hereinafter referred to as the incinerator, to a municipal entity called The Harrisburg Authority.

Thomas Méaly, one time executive director of The Harrisburg Atrthority testified before
this Grand Jury. He was appointed to that posmon by Stephen Reed in 1990. The Authority
beganasa mundane mummpal entity overseeing traditional city utilities such as sewer and water.
Under Reed’s control, the scope of the Authority’s pcrtfolio would swell to include

administration of the incinerator and participation in the issuance of public debt on behalf of the




Harrisburg School District, Harrisburg University of Science and Technology and in other

municipal finance transactions.

Organizationally, Mealy testified the Authority’s board of directors comprised five
individuals who were all appointed by then Mayor Reed. They served terms of either two or four

years.

Mealy testified that in 2000 or 2001 the Authority began to divert money into a “special
project fund” the idea of which was to bring in “ndn-Haﬁisbmg money” to be used and spent on
improving city services. Mealy indicated that some of the initial projects paid for by this fund
included installing lights on the Walnut Street Bridge and creating a nmﬁing trail on City Island.

| Mealy testified that over time Reed became more “aggressive” with the use of money from this
fund. Specifically, Reed used it to purchase antiquities and Mealy testified that the Board would

entertain requests by Reed to use Authority meneyfor that pﬁposal.

'Reed had indicated to the Harrisburg Authority through a memo that “the law
does not prescribe any particular'manner in which such funds should be
utilized”. This notion is incorrect. To the extent money in the Special
Projects Reserve Fund is money of THA, the Municipality Authorities Act
expressly prescribes: i) permitted usage - to include acqguisition of land,
structures, equipment, and facilities and improvements thereto, and ii) .
permitted projects and purposes for which money can be spent - to include
water, sewer, storm water, parking, airports, incinerators, schools and
healthcare facilities (nowhere is acruisition of museum artifacts mentioned
as a proper use, purpose or project of a municipal authority). Moreover, the
Authority, like the City was subject to competition in award of contracts and
these provisions at the time would have applied to any contract for purchase
with a cost of over $10,000 per Section 5614 (that is, had the acguisition of
an artifact with THA or City money been legal in the first instance}. To
the éxtent that money in the Special Projects Reserve Fund was money of the -
City, the City Charter and applicable State law have bidding requirements and
would require that such amounts are properly budgeted and -appropriated by
City Council.




The city sold the incinerator to the Authority at a time when the EPA introduced more
stringent regulations of waste to energy facilities like the incinerator. Tt became clear it world be
necessary either to close the incinerator or to spend a great deal of money to retrofit it to bring it

into compliance. with federal law.

In 1993, the ﬁanisburg Authority purchased the incinerator from the City of Harzrisburg
for $26.7 million dollars. As fhe forensic audit for the Harrisburg Authority noted, that purchase
was made entirely with &nowed money. It was neceséa:y to ‘bontcm;' an additional $7.5 million
dollars at the same time bringing the 1993 i:mchase price, all of which was borrowed, to $34.2

million.

Tn 1996 and 1997, it was necessary to borrow $3.5 million and $10.9 million respectively.
Millions of dollars of that aggregate borrowing were consumed by -a working capital deficit

signifying that the revenues generated by the incinerator were not sufficient fo pay the expenses.

In 1998, it was necessary for the Authority to issue close o $56 million dollars in debt
which purpbrtcd to refinance the 1993 and 1997 borrowings. Far from generating revenue ‘or' :
cutting expenses, tlns borrowing was neceséary to prbp up the operation of the facility with ever
increasing borrowing at increasing cost to incinerator operations. Aga.in, in 2000, the Authority
»iss‘:ued_another $25.2 million dollarsf worth of debt to restructure prior borrowing and to back fill
the hole which f.he previous bond issues had c:;eated. Despite the self-evident need for every
available dollar to go to debt service and operations, $4.2 million dollars more in deBt was
incurred in 2000 and diverted to the City of Harrisburg as & “guaranty fee.” This “guaranty fee”- |
was created and sized to fill a budget deficit in the City of Hanisburg’s General Fuﬁd. This

Grand Jury finds that this fee was disproportionate to the vatue of the guaranty, and a clear




example of Reed taking bond proceeds from one bond issue and using them for a purpose that

Reed believed would be beneficial to him. The incinerator could ill afford this additional debt
constituting the guaranty fee bonds and this is an instance of exploitation of the municipal bond

market by Reed.

In 2002, still more debt was issued, and the: Authority offered $17 million dollars of
additional bonds for sale. The vast majority of bond proceeds from this éﬂ‘eﬁng had to be
expended as working capital. By thls time, the incinerator was producing nothing but additional
debt, and each bdnd issuance forged a new link in the chain of débt wrapped around the city and

which the city still drags behind it to this day.

But the worst was yet to come. In 2003 the Authority issued Series A, B and C ndtes of
2003 for a total amount of éllﬁost $76 million dollars. Like paying one credit card w'ith anoihex,
' the massive 2003 issuance accomplished little more than kicking the can down the rdad at great
expense to-incinerator operaﬁoris. “This borrowing pushed principal out into the firture so that
THA was able to make interest pgyﬁjents on the prior debt.? As the forensic audit noted, by this
point in 2003 the incinerafor was carrying almost $105 million dollars’ worth of debt. The
‘ Aufhority issued still more debt, comprising its D, E andf’ series of 2003 which encumbered the
" facility with a spectacular additional $125 million dollars® worth of debt. It was from this

malignant mass of debt that Reed picked “fees” to be spent on artifacts and curiosities.

By the end of 2006, things had gone from bad to wofse atthe incinerator. The task of

retrofitting the incinerator to make it fall in line with FPA standards had fallen far short of

? The expense of this, and other, municipal debt offerings and their
certification as “self-liguidating” to the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, and
to the investors to whom the bonds were marketed, is the subject of an
ongoing investigation by this Grand Jury.
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projection and the Authority was faced Wlﬂl needing to raise an estimated of $25.5 million to
complete the project. This coupled-with the fact that the Authority had debt service and swap
‘payments due in 2007 that fotaled $13.4 million, made it clear to he Authority that additional
debt would héve to be issued in order to save the project and prevent further financial ruin for the

city of Harrisburg.

At this same time, Reed was attempting to hash out the terms of the borrowing in such a
way that the city of Hamrisburg and county of Dauphin would be on board and willing to

guarantee the loans.

A city council woman from 2001-2009, teshﬁedthat the city council was not in favor of
the 2007 borrowing. Councilﬁad come together and drafted a set of 15 condiﬁdns that had to be
met prior to them voting to ﬁpprove the borrowing. One of the condiﬁons. was that none of the
professioﬁals that were paid’ on the first round of bm:rowings' pould be used this time around.
Thls condition was ultimately removed due to the former special projects édvisor and a senior
counselor to Reed threatening to sue her Ifo; .torﬁous interference with contract. Some of the

'othér condiﬁons included reducing the working capital énomt repaying the city for the -
guarantee payment that it had made on June 1, firing all individuals connected with ti:le Ba;low
retrofit, replacing the Authority board, an agreement from the Authoﬁty board that it would -
attemi:t to sell the famhty on or before July 1, 2009, and hiring individﬁa]s to ijerform a forensic

audit of the project.

Dauphin County had its own list of conditions that had to be met before they would
guarantee the debt as well. Some of the conditions included that it would receive all money that

was past due to it and its professionals from the working capital loan that was a part of ﬂ_m'
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borrowing, that.the working capital loan would be for no more than $30 million and that the debt

would be restructured prior to June 30, 2009. Jeff Haste, a Dauphin County Commissioner since
2003 testified before the Grand Jury. He recalled the discussions leading up to the 2007
borrowing as being very difﬁcult “I remember sitting in the meeting being very frustrated, and I
made a comment, and this still holds true today. I felt that the County was almost like that Coast
Guard rescue person that we had jumped into the waters to save the City, to swim with thém o
shore. You know, again, financially that’s what v§e were doing to 11'y to save them, and we
weren’t told the whole story. AndI reﬁmber stating at that time when we had to make a
decision in *07, do we continue to try on our mission,énd swim to 'shdre with the City-or do we

just say it’s time to sink and drown.”

Ultimately, both the City and County were able to reach a compromise whereby they got.

some of their conditions met and, in return, agreed to act as a guarantor for the 2007 borrowing.

Bernadette Barattini, the attomey for the PA Department of Community and Economic
Development who administers the Local Government Debt Act which includes fhe certification
of debt as self-liquidating, testified before the Grand Juﬁ. Sheji.ndicated that it would have been
“problematic” to certify the existing debt as self—]iq}li&aﬁng if all of the projections that were
prepared indicated that the incineratdr would ;Jot be able to produce sufficient revenue to pay for
past bonds let aloﬁé the new ones being issued. She stated if this was the case, the self-
liquidating certification should have been changed to indicate only the amount of the debt that

could be paid for by reasonable projections of revenue.

In an effort to proceed with the issuance of new debt, the Authority asked multiple parties

to prepare projections of the expected operations for the incinerator for the period 2007 through
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- 2011. All but one of the projecﬁons3 indicated that the Authority would be unable to service the -
current debt for the facility, let alone any new debt that would be issued. In spite of this dubions
forecast, the Authority went ahead with issuing the debt and all parties to the borrowing still -

signed the form, certifying all of the previous debt as self-liquidating.

On December 26, 2007, the HanisburgbAuthority is;sued the 2007 CNote for
$20,961,574.40 and D Note for $9,033,234.45. Included in the closing documents was a
refére:‘xcelto the Tri Party Interim Funding Agreement which was drafted to prevent Covanta
from terminating its services. The agreement included the Authon'ty, the city and the county and
provided that the Authority would make a payment of $800,000 to Covanta, the city would make
a payment of $250,000 to Covanta and the County would make a payment of $2.25 million to
| Covanta., The meney paid by the City and Cotinty would be reimbursed to them through the |
. 2007 ‘borrowing, effectively paying them‘ back for having to make payments that they were _

contractually obligated to make, as guarantors of the previous loans.

The 2007 Notes also included payments outstanding to Covanta as well as the monies |
that would be owed to Covanta in 2008 totaling $5,716,728.55. Aside from that amount, the
remainder of the money that was acquired tb:ough the borrowing was spent to pay past debis, to
cover upcoming debt service payments and to pay the’ professionals who put together the deal.
There was a $3 ,456,097.99 payment to the City of Harrisburg to reimburse it for a Jume and
September debt service payment. The Notes were also used to repay the city and county for debt
service payments that were commg due in November and December of 206’; as well as to cover

the payments that were due in 2008, totaling $14,220,927.86. There was also a $1,067,783.00

3 The one projection was stale, based upon facts that were kmown to have
changed well before issuance of the debt, and did not contain the information
generated by experts on which the bond professionals ultimately relied.
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reimbirsement to the County for fees that the Authority had collected on its behalf and had failed
to remit for 2006 and 2007. Finﬁlly, there was$1,222,671.12 in legal and financial fees that

were tied to the borrowing that were also paid from the Notes.

Although he was the executive rdirector of the Harrisburg Authority, Mealy could not
explain how the Aﬁthoﬁty became entangled in so many diﬁ“erent municipal transactions, so
many of which seemed plainly outside the scope of the Authority’s institutional expertise. For
example, $77 million dollars of debt was issued by the Authority on behalf of the school district
of the City of Harisburg. The official statement provided with respect to that debt issuance
announces the purpose of the bond float as fo]iows “the bonds are being issued to provide funds

~that wﬂibe used, together with certain other available funds, to finance a project of the school
district consisting of (i) the financing of various capital projer;ts of the school district (“the "
capital i:rojects" ; (ii) the current refinding of the outstanding ainmmt of the school district’s
general obligation notes...; (ili) the ﬁmdmg of capitélized intefest on the bonds; @iv) the-péyment
'of the costs of issnance of thé bonds.” Although investors were told that proceeds of this bond
issue would be spent oﬁ the improvement of the schools of the City of Harrisburg for the benefit

of its students; Reed took more than half a million dollars to buy Wild West and other curiosities.

Reed himself, in 8 memorandum dated September 21, 2003 to Thomas Mealy then the
Executive Director of the Harrisburg Authoﬁty candidly ennounced the purpose of the
“administrative fee.” In a thirteen (13) line memo attached to a ﬂﬁck stack of artifact invoices,
Reed informed Mealy that the balance in the “Special Account” had ciwindled to $8,783.97.
“With the closing on September 23™ of the THA bonds,” Reed told Mealy “there will be an
additional §5 15;000.00 éddéd.” That money would not long remain in the “Special Account,”
because Reed simultaneously presented to Mealy close to half a million dollars® worth of artifact
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invoices which he instructed Mealy are to be paid the day after the bond closing. From the

nearly $550,000.00 syphoned into the Special Account from the school district of Harrisburg,
only $56,000.00 by Reed’s own account would be left after payment of the “already pending™

orders for curiosities.

As part of that transaction, Authority board member Frederick Clark moved that the
‘Authority take a $515,000 “ane fee™ from the issuance of 77 mj]lion dollars of
Harrisburg School District debt and mové it into a special projects ﬁnd Mr. Mealy had no idea
what role the Authori_fy could have played in a refinancing done by the Harmrisburg School
District that would justify a‘ fee of more than a half a million dollars. Mealy testified that
Stephen Reed or “the other two .that I mentioned,” referring to & senior counselor to Reed and a
former special pfoj ects advisor, would tell him what amount the Authority fee would be. The
Grand Jury wishes to emphasize this is the first, but by ﬁo meens the only, mstance in whicha

‘witness in a position of authority testified that Reed would dictate the particular terms of &

4 Such an amount is largely outside the bounds of the traditional fee charged
by a conduit issuing authority. Some other examples of administrative fees
that are typical in this area include:

a. City of York General Anthority. This authority was used by the
School District prior to Stephen Reed’s control of the board for a borrowing
in 1988. Their fee on an $80 million transaction was $75,000.00,
approximately 686% lower than what the School District was required to pay to
THA in 2003. - :

b. State Public School Building Anthority. For the past 10 years
or so, issuing through this authority has been relatively inexpensive and
today, it is free of cost to the borrower. When the School Board was given
a choice, it availed itself to this low cost option and on a borrowing of
very similar size ($77 million) paid $12,500 or, 4,120% less than the School
District paid THA in 2003,

C.. Dauphin County General Authority. This Authority charges a flat
fee based upon size of the transaction and complexity. -In 2010, in
connection with a continuing care retirement community {(considered more
complex than a school district financing) DCGA charged $25,000 which was alsco
intended to cover legal costs of the DCGA. Another general aunthority in
Pennsylvania (Delaware County General Authority) for this sized transaction
would have also charged $25,000 according to its published fee schedule.
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MGM transaction into which city entities under his control v;'ould enter. This extended to
dictaﬁﬁg the actual amount of the fee in this instance. It 1s self-evident that this fee cannot have
been related to services performed by the Aﬁthorit'y where the amount of that fee is not
determined by the labor of Authority gmployees but is rather deciared by the Mayor.
Professionals retained by the Authority , such as Auﬂiority legal counsel and a financial advisor, |
who- did employ labor on behalf‘of the Authority were paid separately by thé School District

from proceeds of the bonds.

~ Atthat x}ery same September of 2003 meeting, the Board voted to pay $471,506.00 worth
of artifacts payments to various antiquities dealers. Reed would simply submit requisitions for ‘
~ payment aﬁd, Mealy‘tcsfiﬁéd, the Authority would theﬁ vote to appmvé payment. Then Grand
Jury notes that the amount of the reimbursement correlates to the amouat of the Authority’s

3

‘fee.

This was not the only such fee taken. In a November 2002 Ietter, Reed told Mealy to
expect money from the Parking Auﬁoﬁty :and frbm the school district and directed that those
funds should be moved into thé spécial projects fund. In a review of the city special projects
fuﬁd revenue from 20‘00-2005, it is notable that laige sums of money flow into tﬁe fund from the
Harrisburg Parking Authority, beginning with a deposit of $1.3 million on May 5, 2000. On
August 3, 2001, there is $750,000.00 that makes its way iﬁto the special projects fund. from a
series of bonds issued on behalf of the Parking Authority. October 9, 2001, there is an additional
$973,000.00 that is deposited into the special projects fund for what is noted to be the 7% Street
Garage sale. Less than three months after this deposit of close to $1 million, the fund was down
to a balance of $4,456.64 and an additional $175,000.00 was deposited for the remainder of the

7% Street Garage sale on December 27, 2001. Again on February 28, 2003 $250,000.00 makes
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. its way into the fund from the Parking Authority. An additional $500,000.00 is deposited on

April 3, 2003 and another $170,130.00 is deposited on May 16, 2003. The Grand Jury notes that
each influx of cash from the Parking Authority seems to occur at a time when the balance for the
fund is nearing zero and a deposit is negded to prevent the fund from going into thered. Each
payment from the Parking Authority decreases the amount the Parking Authority would
otherwise be transferring to the City’s General Fund for core mﬁnicipal services and/or requires

it to borrow more for paﬂdng improvements.

in August 62002, Mealy acknowledged a request by Reed to move $175,000.00 worth
" of proceeds from bonds sold on behalf of the incinerator to make them available for the purchase
of artifacts. Mealy candidly assessed the difficulties in uéing lhé bond money for that purpose,
and suggested to Reed in that ietter that perhaps it would be possible to re-characterize money

| from bond proceeds as“fees” so that they could be used for another purpose. Mealy teétiﬁed
.that, in retrospect, it was improper fér the Authority to give Reed money in that manner by
chafacteriz.ing itasafee when no services, that Méaly could recollect, were rendered. Mealy

testified that no one had more influence in the affairs of the Authority than Stephen Reed.

During his testimony, Mealy was shown a docimment that was included in the closing
documents for 2 March 2003 swap in which ﬁe school district participated. ‘The swap involved
an uﬁderlying 580 mﬂﬁon borrowing (1999 Bonds) that utilized the City of York General
Autlioﬁty as the conduit issuer oﬁ behalf of the Harrisburg Sr;hool District. Not wanting to be
left out of an opportunity to reap the benefits of a swap,. Reed negotiated that the Harrisburg

Authority would receive a $239,000.00 fee, paid by JP Morgen, for “research and
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development™, Mealy cpuld not say th;f “research and development™ a mum'cipgl Authority
woﬁlcl have undertaken on behalf of a s.chool district and an investment bank to justify such a
~ fee. He testified the Authority did a small amouht of resee;rch into the wastewater treatment
plant and a unique treatment process that was being used but indicated that it would not have
been appropﬁaie to take money out of the Bonds floated to benefit the school district to pay the

Authority for that research.

Tre’njc Harprove testlﬁed before this Grand Jury. Hargrove served on the board of the .
Authority and as its chairman from 1991 to 2004. I—Iargrm"e also served, at various times, on the
Ha:;isburg School Board of Control to which he was appointed by Reed, the Boérd of the
Harrisburg Civic Baseball Club to which he was appointed by Ree&, and as chﬁmm of the -

Board of Control for the Harrisburg University of Science and Technology to which he was
appointed by Reed. Indeed, Hargrove served on the Aurthority Board at the same time as he was
Chairman of the Board of Control for the Harrisburg University of Science and Technology

during the period the Authority was involved in the issuance of debt on behalf of the University.

- 'With respect to the $77 million dollar school district debt transaction, from which the
Authority claimed a $515,000 dollar feé, Hargrove had no personal knowledge of what work
would have been done by the Authority to justify that fee. He cqncuned thai the Authority did
not determine the amount of the fee they simply appﬁvﬁ it at the time of the closing of a given

transaction. Of Reeds influence over the Authority, Hargrove testified “obviously, everybody

5The $239,000 fee that Reed created was paid to THA on March 13, 2003
and coincidentally filled the deficit that existed in the special projects
fund. According to the City Special Project Fund QuickReport, on the date of
the deposit of the $239,000.00, the fund was operating in the red to the tune
of 5224,216.28. The influx of money filled the void and allowed the fund to
be in the black by $14,783.72. . ‘
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would know the true reaiity of process that was that no major decisions were made, no major
bonds were issued, no financial transactions occurred, nobody was appointed as-a contractor,
advisor, or counsel without [Reed’ s] expressed or tacit approval. If Reed did not want it to

happen, it would have not happened.”

Frederick Clark testified ﬁefore this Grand Jury. He was appointed by Reed to the board
of the Harrisburg Authority from 2002-2007. He also served on the board of the Harrisburg
Redevelopment Athority and the Parking Authority. Both positions were bestowed upon him
by Reed. He sat on the Board of Control for the Harrisburg School District as 4we11. He testified
that Reed selected every professional that was involved with every financial transaction that

' occurred in the city and that their fees were always paid out of the proceeds from the bonds.

‘Mr. Clark discussed the Special Projects Fund and iﬁdjcaied that there were often times
when the fund had no money remaim'ng in its coﬁ‘ers.aﬁd the board wouldhﬁe to approve
moVeﬁ:lent of money from other Authority accounts into the sinecial ﬁrojects account. The ather
way that the board would balance the budget of the specizl projects fund was through the
adr.ﬁinistraﬁve fees that came out of most of the financial transactions. He testified that the
administrative fee was something wholly created by Reed. It had no basis in work that was done

iby the Authority and the board had no.voice in deténnining what the fee would be.

- David Brinjac, of Brinjac Engineering, testified Before this Grand Jury. Brinjac had
berfqnne;ci work on the incinerator from 1982 to 1988 or 89. Brinjac installed the initial turbine
engine in that facility. When talk began in the mid *90°s of the need to retrofit the incinerator,
Brinjac, in association with Chester Engineers and Malcom Pimie, responded to a 1995 request

for proposal concerning the feasibility of bringing the incinerator into compliance. Brinjac
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concluded such an effort was not financially viable for either the City or the Authority because of

the amount of debt already outstanding and the additional amount it would be necessary to incur.

o August of 1995, Brinjac presented his conclusions fo Reed and his executive staff
The engineers informed Reed thai 1f it was easy to do this kind of waste to energy facilit}
project, they would be “building incinerators evef_ywhere” and that it was mucﬁ harder with the
$68 million or $70 million dollars already outstanding in debt. Reed said “[t]hank you. You are

fired.” Reed walked out of the room.

Ultimately, the decision was made to hire Barlow, an unknown entity in the City of
Harrisburg, to perform the retrofit. The problems with that cdmpany and the project itself are

widely known and certainly served to send Harrisburg deeper into finaneial ruin.
II. HARRISBURG SCHOOL DISTRICT

William Gretton, ITI, testified before this Grand Jury. Gretion _serve;d a5 business
administrator of the school district from December 0f 2001 to Mazch of 2008. In that capacity,
he oversaw all non-educational functions of the school district to include facilities, "
tﬁnsportéﬁon, food :s,ervice, information téchnology, and othells. He reported to the
superintendent who in tumn reported to the Hérrisburg School Board of Control. When Gretton
began his work, the school district was mdértakiﬂg a process of major renovations to its facilities
around the district. The money to make those improvements was raised by issuing municipal
bonds. Gretton tesﬁﬁed that he was aware that th;a school disﬁct paid a fee to the Harrisburg
Authority. Gretton testified he was under the impression that school dis#icts couldn’t issue their
own debt and had to pay the Authority a fee for the use of their “service™ in issuing the debt on

the district’s behalf. This is not acnléﬂy the case and the School District had issued directly
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before and after his tenure. When shown the 2003 closiﬁg statement which recﬁrds the
$515,000.00 paid to &e Authority by the school district, Getton theorized that the amount of the
fee was based on the size of the underlying transaction, but testified he would not be surprised to
leara that in this instance, Resd bad set the amount of that fee. He “ynderstood at the time |
" [Reed] directed that ccrtam bond counsel be utilized and that certain legal firms be involved. So
certainly that would ‘not surprise [him] that that amount wes established in that manner.”.

Gretton testified that he was sometimes surprised by the amount of the fee that the school district
was obliged to pay but that he wouldn’t see it unﬁl after the bonds had been issued and fhe fees

set and then he just had to accept it. It wasn’t his job, he felt, to question it.

Gretton further testified that the school district entered into bond “swap” transactions
which are complex, and in this instance, expensive, financial products meant to manage interest
rate risk. The swap transactions also generated fees which were paid from the proceéds of

school district bonds to professionals whom Reed selected.

Gretton testified that be was unaware that monef from the “administrative fee” charged |
By the Harrisl:;urg Auihoriiy to vthe school district went to the purchase of .W'ﬂd Western and other
artifacts and memorabilia. He did recall, however; that he received a telephone call ﬁom a
reporter inquiring about that misuse of school district money for that purpose and that he referred

the matter to then superintendent Dr. Gerald Kohn.

Gretton testified he was concerned about the district’s spending at Reed’s direction. He
recalled an instance where Reed directed the district to hire the African American Chamber of
Commerce for minority and women’s business enterprise Eompﬁance services. The chamber had

1o customers, and so had to be paid in advance by the school district just to begin the work for
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which they had been engaged. Gretton indicated that the work that the Chamber was doing for
the school district rapidly fell éﬂ’ to a-level that was not worth the money that was paid to them.
Gm&on recalled too that the district spent more on ldbbying and legal fees than any other district
for which he worked. Gretton testified that they had their own in house solicitor, their own
construction firm, and a firm that dealt with special education services. Gretton testifiod the
district paid $1.1 million db]lars in Jobbying-costs alone to an area I;Dbbying group which
routinely received contracts from Reed. This money was budgeted under “legal fees™ althongh

the services provided by this lobbying group were self-evidently non-legal in nature.

Of Reeds control of the enterprise that s the Harrisburg School District, Gretton testified
“if you look at the history of the [school] board of control ... there were certain times when
somebody..ﬁom the Board of Control didn’t agree with one df [Reed’s] decisions and that person
was.quickly replaced. ... “[T}he control wes coming ffom above, [Reed’s] level.” Indeed, Reed
| threatened o fire Gretton himself when “T made & decision that conflicted with something [Reed]

' thought should happen....”

Dr. Gerald Kohn, Superintendent of the Harrisburg School District from 20’01 t0 2010,
testified befqre this Grand Jury. Dr. Kohn indicated that he had recently left a New Jersey
School District and applied for and was selected to be superintendent of the Harrisburg School
District. Dudng that time, Kohn testified, Reed was able to appoint, and remove, members of
the school board pursuant to the Eduééﬁon Empowerment Act. § Dr. Kohn recalled that he

would meet with Reed and Reed would tell him that the district had to issue bonds for a certain

® This Grand Jury has considered and rejected the defense that the Education
Empowerment Act authorized Reed so completely to usurp the basic ‘
responsibilities of the board members he appointed and so totally to direct
the business of the school district that he picked every vendor and
professional and ultimately used school district money to buy collectibles
and memorabilia for himself. '
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project. Reed would-instruct bim as to the recommendation that would need to be made to the

board of control and Kohn would thereafter make that vote an agenda item for the next board
meeting.

Kohn recalled he was in attendance at several meetings concerning the issuance of school
district bonds where Reed ordained to everyone in the room who would be appointed bond

counsel, financial advisor, ﬁnd so on and what thc? particular terms of that bond issue would be.

Dr Kohn told this Grand Jury that he was not awa;cé that bond money was being paid to
the Harrisburg Authority in the form of an administrative fee. He testified that he was “greatly
surprised” thgt the district had paid more than half a million dollars to the Authority as a
trénsacﬁon fee for the 2003 bond issue. He testified that he did not know Reed was using that
money to buy antiquities and collectibles. Incredibly, the post-it-note on which Bill Gretton had

| written to Kohn regarding the reporter’s inquiries about artifact purchéses survived and is an
exhibit before this Grand Jury. When confronted with that note, Kohn had testified he did not

remember having seen it or its contents.

Kohn corroborated Gretton’s testimony that it was Reed who recommended the “swap”
transactions to-the school district and in fact told him to put swap approval on the agenda for the
board of control. Kohn was unequivocal that Reed dictated the terms of debt transactions both to’

" the school district and the professionals whom he would appoint. He testified that Reed would

send his advisors to the board of control meetings to make a PowerPoint presentation and they . _
were “quite convincing that it was in the school district’s best interest to do this or not do it.” He
indicated that if Reed recommended a specific financial transaction, which they could be certain

~ he had or it wouldn’t have made its way onto their agenda, “then the board would vote forit.” .
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To illustrate that point, Kohn recalled an instance upon which he and other members of

~ the board of control met in public session. A genﬂeman in the andience, who had just been
 appointed by Reed as the first president of the Harrisburg University of Science and Technology,
stood up to thank the board ‘for its $3.25 million gift to the University. No one on the stage had
any idea what he was talking about. They didn’t know, Reed had not consultéd them, and had
negotiated, pledged, and delivered this money from the school district without the slightest
involvement of anyone responsible for its governance. Kohn testified “T can’t tell you how
surprised I was as was everyone else. There was outrage. Literally you could hear the jaws
hitting the table as we heard this...” Kohn was apparently only one of two people on the school
board that had Reed’s direct phone number. He called and demanded a meeting. When Reed
eventually gave them an auchence “the five members of the board of control and I were there
aqd they were furious not to have ]mowu and the mayor got angry and said, stop, listen to this:
and he explained that the $3.25 million-dollars was the begiﬁning of a down payment ona
building that was going to be built for the school district for Sci Tech High School for $20 “

' million dollars of which the mayor.had obtained $4'151us million dollar private contributions from
a num’opr of i)ﬁsiness people in the community.” Reed wenf on to explain, Kohn testified, that
Reed had actually pledged $20 mﬂlioﬁ dollars of school district money’for this Sci Tech High to
be paid m insta]]meﬁts over a number of years. Again, this Grand Jury emphasizes that this
ﬁ:assiva encumbrance of the schools of Harrisburg was accomplished By fiat and conﬁnu&ﬂ to

haunt the financially strapped school district to this day.

Dr. Kobn testified that he “was hurt that I didn’t know about [Reed’s $20 million dollar
pledge on behalf of the school distrigt] at first; but when you work with Mayor Reed that

happens alot.”




The Grand Jury was able to r;view a letter dated August 5, 2004 from James Losty, the

managing director at RBC Dain Rauscher to Reed wherein Losty indicated that Act 72 was
adopted in Pennsylvania and was to go into effect as of Seﬁtember 3,2004. The Act was going
to require écﬁool distﬁcts to go to referendum for approval of municipal bond offerings. Losty
indicated that he had been in talks with Public Fmanc1al Management and Bill Gretton regarding
the possibility of negaﬁng this requirement by entering into a bond purci:'ase agreement at that

- time for future delivery of bonds. Losty wrote that such a transaction Qmﬂdn’t Tequire any up-
front fees but would allow for “future flexibility with regard to the timing of the gctuél delivery
of bonds and the strucﬁne of bonds™. .He ended his letter by noting that the school district had
roughly $25million of borrowing capacity remaining. This Grand Jury finds Reed

. enthusiastically agreed and encumbered the school district with the maximum possible debt and
gave Losty fhe business in return. Reed also set aside $5 million from the $25 million to be used
for capital and operating costs at tﬁe‘Harrisburg University of Scicnc;z and Tech.nology,v
indicating that thls was “a critical component of this bond transaction”. Dr. Kohn testified he
was not'awarg.of this transaction until the day of his Grand Jury testimony. .

I October 2004, two Memoranda of Uﬁderstanding were pr'epa@d between the
Harrisburg School District and the Harrisburg University of Science and Technology. One of the
MOU piovided for $5 million to be paid to the Harrisburg University of Science and Technology
out of the proceeds of the $77 million borrowing from 2003. In exchangé Harrisburg University
of Sclence and Technology agreed to grant dlStﬂCt students access to the umvers1ty It is unclear
what value that should have been to the School District as consideration considering the entire
purpose of the project was to serve District students. The other MOU provided ﬂnat the district

would provide assistance to the university in the form of planning, staffing and construction of
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the facilities, technical assistanpe related to the construction, academic support, fundraising and -
grant counseling and any other assistance agreed to byb the parties. In exchange, the mi?ersiiy
was to make yearly payﬁ_enfs of $290,000.00 to the school district for & period of ten years
beginning on November 1, 2016 and concluding on October 31, 2025 as payment for the services
rendered. Dr Kohn testified that he was not aware of this transaction either. Not\;:lithstanding
the memoranda’s recording rﬁany transactions, Dr. Kohn maintained he was only aware“of the
~ $3.25 million dollars that was given to the University of Science and Technology and even then

only after it was revealed to him by a spectator at an open session board meeting, |

Kohn testified it was normal for him to be excluded from decision making regarding the
finances of th;é school district which he was paid $235,431.007 annually to supex:inténd.

Dr. Kohn likewise testified he was unaware of any termination of the swap agreements in
to which the school district entered during his tenure or at what cost to the district such
terminations were obtained.

III. HARRISBURG CIVIC BASEBALL CLUB

Thls Grand Jury finds that by the time of the deBt issuance necessary to renovate the
Harrisburg Senators Stadium féc;ility on City Island, Reed had féund a model that worked. This
Grand Jury further finds that Reed began to view any instance of municipal boﬁov&dﬁg as an
opportunity to create and divert resources for the acqﬁﬁﬁon of antiquities and collectibles. This
Grand Jury is satisfied that by the time of the transactions described below, Reefi was treating the
résources of the Harrisburg Civic Baseball Club, the mum'cipai entity which administered the |
city owned Harrisburg Senators baseball te@, and disposing of them, as his own.

Gregory Martml testified before this Grand Jury Martini served as chairman of the

board of directors of the Harrisburg Senators frdm 1996 to 2006. In 2004, during Martini’s

7 as of the end of his tenure.
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tenure, the Harrisburg Redevelopment Authority issued $18 million dollers’ worth of bonds to

pay for the renovation of the Harrisburg Senators’ stadium facility on City Island. The state was
expected to provide grant money for this project as well, ho;\wever the money was not
immediatély forthcoming. |
Of note for this particular borrowing is that the Harrisburg Authority did not participate
in the financing .in any way, but they still received a fee in the amount of $70,000.00 'rhat was
deposited into the special projects fund. This fee ﬁas the subject of much debate within city
.council, as they believed that such a fee was in direct contravention of the ordinance that
authorized the project, which directed thafc all revenue be placed in the general ﬁmd. City
Council demanded return of the $70,000.00 to the general fand. The Harrisburg Authority
responded by having the solicitor, Bruce Foreman, write a letter to City Council President |
‘Richard House wherein he stated that the ordinance that was passed provides for “payment of
excess net revenues from the operation of the Stadium.” He went on to indicate that the
orajnance did not refér to receipt and deposit of fees, as they cannot be ;:'haracterized as
operating revenue or net operating revenue and therefore, the receii:t by the Authority of the fee
was entirely apprqpriate
Around the same time, Reed. began buying sports memorabilia and imagining some sort . .
of sports museum in the Hﬁn:isburg area. |
To legitimize that effort, Reed tapped his friend John Levenda to become the only
employee of a national sports hall of fame foundation. The question now became how to pay
Mr. Levenda. Martini testified he re.called a letter sent to him by Reed in December of 2004
asking the Harnsburg Civic Baseball Club to pay $125,000.00 to the National Sports Hall of

Fame. Marﬁni testified he took his direction from Reed and was prepared to cut the check based
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solely on the letter; no further documentation as to its.necessity or pmpoéad use was supplied or

requested. The fantastically tcﬁuous reason advanced for why the Harrisburg Civic Baseball
Club should want to simply give $125,000.00 to a ﬁaﬁseum wiﬁch did not exist and to the one
: persdn foundation marketing it came from Reed. The museum, if it was ever built, Reed
exﬁlm'ned, could be built on City Island. The Seﬁators also play on City Island. So it followed,
to Reed’s mind, that when the nqn—e.zdstent museum ‘appeéred it is possible that sdme ofits
patrons might also visit the Senators and that provided sufficient justification for the Harrisburg
Civic Baseball Club to simply pour mohey onto John Levendé, This Grand Jury is troubled that
Reed went so far as to suggest to Martini that the HCBC could book this payment as a legitimate
cxpensé under the 2004 bond agreement Based on nothing more than his bald assertion that if ’
such amuéeum was ever built somc;. of its customers m.ighi go to a Senators game.
That transaction between Reed and Martlm was not consummated in 2004. On January
26, 2005, Reed wrote Martini again, this time requesting a paymént of $100,000.00 for John |
Levenda. Martini made this iaaymf:nt ﬁ'bni Senators’ bond proceeds based on nothing more than -
Reed’s letter. Martini testified that LeQenda never submitted any docurnentation to account for
the expenditure and none was requested. Martini testified that the National Sports Hall of F ame
| never existed in any form more substantial than p:é)posals, never broke groﬁnd, and Martini was

not sure if city council voted on the project or even if they were aware of it.

- a. Midwinter baseball meetings
This Grand Jury heard teéﬁmony that Reed would travel to the “Mid-Winter Meetings™
held by Major I_;eague Baseball m various locations and throughout the country and which also
included events for minor league teams. Reed attended these ﬁeeﬁngs at the expense of thé )

Harrisburg Civic Baseball Club. Martini testified he would write checks directly from the
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HCBC account to Reed.® Sometimes Reed would submit Ieceipt's,'and someﬁmes‘he would
. simply ask for an amount without supplying any documentation at all. Again, he provided no
documentation and no one asked him for any. For travel, Reed would simpiy ask for a given

amount to be paid to him and indicate that he had receipts if anybody wanted to look at them. -

Reed was unable to confine the activities of these junkets even to their nominal purpose
and frequently seized the opportunity to go artifact shopping. Even though these shopping trips
were in no way related to any legitimate business of the Harrisburg Civic Baseball-Club, Reed

would ask for and receive reimbursemeﬁt from the HCBC anyway.

Martini testified that he was aware that John Levenda and Richard Pickles, then a
member of the Harrisburg Police Department, would sometimes accompany Reed on these
shopping trips. The findings of this Grand Jury with respect to those shopping trips are set out

more completely below.

b. Storage of property in Martini’s basement

® Those checks are as follows:

1. July 8, 2007 $ 5,000.00*
2. Rugust 9, 2007 . $ 8,443.46%*
3. August 20, 2007 $ 3,633.76%
4. September 20, 2007 § 1,659.12+
5. June 18,. 2008 $ 10,000.00
€. July 21, 2008 $ 4,821.00
7. August 5, 2008 § 6,800.00
B. August 18, 2008 $ 2,600.00
9. September 2, 2008 $ 2,617.17
10. September 24, 2008 $ 3,750.00
11. November 3, 2008 $ 3,671i.63
12. December 5, 2006 5 1,000.00
13. December 22, 2008 $ 4,722.11.

Total § 53,818.25

*Prior to sale of teanm
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‘ Marhm testified that Reed ‘ca.lled him in December of 2009 shortly before he left office,
ashng if he could store somethings in his building. Martini acquiesced ard did not press Réed
about the réason that he needad the storage or.whai in parficular he 'would be storing. Martini -
testified that Reed and other city employees showed up to his office with 15 different sized
cartons for stofage which they put into the storage area in the basement of his building, The
items remained in his poésesgion until they were turned over to the Office of Attoniey General in
2014. Martini testified that, upon advice from counse] and in answer to a Grand Jury subpocna;
he opened the storage containers that were not wooden shlppmg crates and created an 1temlzed
- list of the artifacts :that were contained within them. One of the storage containers had a packing
slip attached to the outslde which matched one of the checks ﬁom‘Hamsbmg Civic Baseball

Club. . Other items that were mthm the collection in Martini’s basement are;

Box 1:
Unopened carton from Silvertip in Glorieta, NM
Box 2: o :
~ ‘Unepened carton from Silvertip in Glorieta, NM
Box 3: - a
10 plastic pennant holders
. Hall of Fame 2006 bat :
Antographed Adirondack bat for NY Yankees
2 other unopened bats : ‘
2 bat holders
1893 baseball print—Univ. of PA
Hbg. Colored Elks ticket
1920°s catcher’s chest protector
' Catcher’s glave '
" Box 4:
Box of Topps Anniversary collection 1952—1 990 baseball cards
~ Senators® shirt
'Framed cards of Robin Roberts, Ritchie Ashburn, Don Drysdale & Hank Aaron
Yankees flag
Yankees 100 card legacy set
Autographed Orlando Cepeda baseball
Autographed Ron Guidry baseball
Autographed Mickie Riveria baseba.ll
6 baseball books
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Braves shirt for Assenmacher

5 Harrisburg Senators 2008 programs
Yankee stadinm memorabilia

13 various framed cards

56-baseball card sets

Topps baseball card set for 2008
Wheaties box.

‘Box 5: ‘
Unepened box from Great American Tlustrators—detailed packing list ineluded
Box 6: : :
47 signed posters
Box 7: S
' Unopened carton from Silvertip in Glorieta, NM
Box 8:
: 2 Babe Ruth photos
1 Jackie Robinson photo
Box 9: ,
Batting Rug poster
US Marines poster
1920.Negro League poster
Box 10:
50 Major League baseball card packs
1 shot glass )
Box 11:
1 Western lamp
Box 12:
1 Western bar stool
Box 13:
Negro League leather jacket
Hbg. Cougars 2002 state champion hat and shirts
Major League duffel bag -
3 baseball gloves ,
2 Negro League baseballs signed on July 12, 2008 at Broad St. Market
NY Yankees and Negro ]’_zague hats '
Phillies towel
Box of baseball magazines and papers
Catcher’s mask -
Ball holders
Yankees jacket
Hbg. High license plate holder
Baseball encyclapedla
Box 14:
8 ball holders
4 catcher’s masks
Jason Giambi bobble head
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Box 15:

3 packs baseball centennial cards from Cooperstown
“Yankees shirt

4 baseball gloves

1978 Topps baseball card set

Glove & 4 baseballs

6 2008 Hall of Fame programs

Mickie Mantel book

4 Yankees magazines-

Yankees coffee mug

Baltimore Orioles pennant

Cal Ripkin shirt

Shea Stadium shirt

2 Negro League hats

Pennants for Baltimore Orioles, Chicago Black Hawks Chicago Bears, Chicago White
Sox & Brooklyn Dodgers -

7 autographed baseballs

8 Upstate Life magazines

7 Gatemen programs for 2008

5 Memories & Dreams magazines

3 unwrapped photos

Goose Gossage framed photo

Negro League framed photo

Yankee Stadium collector’s patches

Final season Yankee Stadium photo

1942 Whitehouse correspondence to Judge Landis

Shea Stadium final season framed picture

Certificates of authenticity signed by Mayor Reed regarding Negro League purchases

'Tackie Robinson bobble head

Maris & Mantle bobble heads

3 Yankees hats

Shea Stadium hat

2 Negro League hats

Correspondence from Tom Snyder to Mayor Reed
‘Wrapped baseball

Mickie Mante] and Ted Williams photos

Baseball from July 3, 2008 at Commerce Bank Park
Hbg. Giants baseball shn't

3 basebeall pins

Baseball mug

2 Cooperstown souvenir bats

4 posters signed by Jose Cansaco & Jack Clark
Other baseball posters

31




Some of these items were purchased ﬁﬁm a vendor called “Silvertip”. Documentation
provided by the City of Harrisburg and presented to this Grand Jury establishes that this
“Silvertip qu’ of items was purchased w1th city money and considered missing at the time of the
inventory of city owned memorabilia and the subsequent auction of Wild.West items. This
Grand Jury finds that those Silvertip items belonged to the City of Harisburg and their rendition

by Reed to Martini’s basement deprived the city and its creditors of their value.

Special Agent Craig LeCadre testified that during an interview with Reed, he specifically
asked him about the itexﬁs that were stored in Martini’s basement. Reed’s response was that he
had'no idea wh;if‘ there would be any artifacts stored in Martini’s basement. LeCadre testified
that Reed asked him if a mirror was among the items recovered from Martini’s basement because
thére were plans to put a restaurant called the “Builpcn Café” in the vicinity of the visiting
team’s duéout in the renovation project of the Harrisburg Senator’s ball park. Agent LeCadre
testified that he showed Reed picturés of the items that had been {eh:ieved from Martini’s
basement on his cell phonme. Upon viewing the photographs, Reed acknowledged that he
recognized the mirror and horns but did t;of recollect the matching tabie lamps. He wenf onto
acknowledge that the container shipped to “Harrisburg Civic Baseball Ass., c/o Office of the

Mayor™.
IV. THE NATIONAL SPORTS HALL OF FAME

John Levenda testified before this Grand Jury. Levenda testified that he served as the
President of AA Minor League Baseball’s Eastern League from 1993 to 1996. The Eastern
Leégues offices moved to Harrisburg because Reed agreed to build a space for them there and to

charpe them the same amount of rent as their old facility in Plainville, Connecticut. In that role,
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. Levenda overséw umpires and score keepers and insured that each team was paying its annual
dues. He attended ballgames and baseball mectijgs an& looke& after league expenses. After his
move to Harrisburg the owners of the Eastern League did not ré-elect him in 1996 and he was
looking for work. He suggested to Reed that hé be hired to furidraise for the burgeoning
National Civil War Museum and the nascent Sports Hall of Fame. Reed hired him as a
consultant to raise money for both projects. This contract did not need City Council’s approval‘
because it was considered “a personal service contact;’ Levenda testified that Reed didn’t ‘
édvefﬁse or Iook for other candidates and that this posiﬁop was créaied for him at his suggestion.
Levenda recalled he was hired in November of 1996 at a salary of $45;000.00 or $50,000.00 a
year including hééith insurance. Levenda testified he began to try and solicit donors and
sponsors for the Civil War Muséum and the Sports Hall 6f Fame. Levenda testlﬁed that he
discovered the Pennsylvania Sports Hall of Fame; an organization which a]readj' existed, had

 received $9.5 million dollars in RACP® grant money. Levenda testified that Reed attempted to

persuade the PA Sports Hall of Fame to hire an eﬁecuﬁve director and raise matching fimds so

that the state grant could be accessed and spent.

The PA Sports Hall of Fame in turn asked Reed to loan them the matching moriey. Reed |
tentatively agreed but the deal was never consummated. Levenda testified he did not believe
Reed discussed the possibility of this $7 mjljion dollar bridgé loan with city council nor did he o
seek city council’s approval. Levgﬁda himself did not question Reed about ﬁn’s because, he

testified, he just wanted to advance the project.

® The Redevelopment Assistance Capital Program {RACP} is a commonwealth grant
program “for the acquisition and construction of regional economic, cultural,
civic, recreational, and historical improvement projects.”
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Levenda testified that at some poiat it became clear that the PA Sporis Hall of Fame was
. not sérious about the museum project and Reed decided that the city was going to take the
project over exclusively and rename it the Pennsylvania‘ National Sports Hall of Fame. In 2002,
that name was changed again to the National Sports Hall of F ame, and was intended to feature
athletes, coaches and administrators from youth sports through professional and Olympic Ievel
sports.

Levenda testified that the RACP money was still available from the State but the newly

named National Sports Hall of Fame (NSHF) would still need to raise matching money.

in 2005, Levenda testified that the City had been through a round of layoffs and Reed and
Levenda decided thai it “didnt look good” for the City to continue paying Levenda’s salary as a |
consultant for the NSHF so they created a board for the NSHF. Levenda became the only
employee of the National Sports Qm of Fame Foundation in 2005, camied the tifle President and
Chief Executive Officer, and received an annual salary of $87,500.00, health benefits, a $600.00
monﬂlly car allowance and fou1.‘ (4) weeks of paid vacation. Again,vLevcnda testiﬁei Reed re- |
' charactenzed his employment because it “didn’t look good™ to have him continue working for

and receiving payment from the City during this time of increasing financial stress.

Levenda testified that as the Foundation’s lone employee he approached city council to
 solicit them to guarantee $10 million dollars® worth of loans for the Sports Hall of Fame
Museum. City council refused, and Levenda testified his solicitation came at a time when the

full extent of Reeds’s municipal debt crisis was becoming visible.
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By December of 2008, hope for the museum had been abandoned and, Levenda testified,
any money left m the foundation coffers went to pay for his continuing health insurance in

. accordance with his employment agreement.

Indeed, even afier the decision was taken not to pursue the museum, tﬁc fom@aﬁdn
continued to accept ﬁ;oney. In January of 2009, two checks were written from HCBC to the
Naﬁonél | Spo‘rts‘ Hall of Fame Foundaﬁqﬁ for $750.00 each afier the p@j éct was ostensibly
ajsandonei J ohn Levenda testified that “every dollar that we could still raise, number one,
helped w1th my health insurance.” This Grand Jury finds the admjnist’éﬁon of th: HCBC was

v mmﬁent with the paﬁém of the institutionalization of conflict apparent in every other mmﬁcipal A
enterprise Wh.lch Reed controlled. Levenda hzmse]fwas placed on the Board of the Harrisburg
Civic Baseball Club by Reed in 2003 and remained on the Board dunng the period he solicited

HCBC for money, sometimes for no purpose other than to pay himself.

Levenda testified extensively about his travel with Reed and other associates to “Mid-
" ‘Winter Baseball meeﬁngs,” which would often migrate into artifact shoppiug trips and pure

vacations.

Levenda recalled he attended such meetings with Ha_ccisbﬁrg Police officer Rick Pickles,

Reed, Martini, and sometimes the general managé,r in at least the years 2004 through 2008.

Levenda testified that the 2004 meeting was held in Anaheim, California. He traveled
with Reed to Anaheim four (4) days prior to the meeting, and testified that he and Reed flew to
San Francisco, spent the day there, drove into Nevada for a day, drove back through San Jose
and spent the night there. They then drove to“Los Angeles or San Luis Obispo before traveling to

Anaheim for the meeting. Levenda testified that this trip had nothing to do with baseball and
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Reed wanted to “see the sights.” He and Reed submitted all their receipts for reimbursement to

~ the HCBC for payment.

Levenda also attended the 2005 mesting which was held in Dallas. He scheduféd a
meeting for Reed with a sports memorabilia collector in Boca Raton, Florida for three days after
the baseball meetings ended. Rather than flying back to Harrisburg and back down for the
shopping trip, Levenda and Reed went directly to Florida. They “killed time” before their
meeting by visiting Key West. This trip was paid for by HCBC and, Leveﬁda testified, had
nothing to do with Senators’ baseball. Levenda testified that at the time he didn’t ask questions '

about the propriety of these trips but now, in retrospect, recognizes that they were wrong.

Levenda testified that no one questioned Reed about these trips and that Levenda did not
believe that any HCBC board members saw the receipts from the trips,rathes, they were

submitted directly to the general manager who simply wrote a check. |

In addition to accompanying the Mayor on artifact shopping trips, Le\{eudé‘ and Rick
Pickles, who was a member of the Harrisburg Police Department at the time, would travel twice
a year to locations designated by Reed to pick up artifacts which Reed had purchased and haul
them back to Harrisburg. Levenda testified that most of the artlfacts they collected appeared to
be Wild Western era pieces but there might have been some civil war artifacts as well. Levenda
testified they were not, however, picking kup baseball or sports related memorabilia. For these
trips Levenda collected his regular ‘salary aﬁd did not take vacation time. Richard Pickles was
also paid his salary as aHaIﬁsburg City Police Captain. Levenda tésﬁ:ﬁeci he and Pickles would
fly out to a destination designaicd by Reed then travel on to whatever particular vendor or site

was holding the artifacts which Reed had purchased. They would then load those items into a
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~ conventional U-Haul type rental truck and drive them back to Harrisburg. No special
accommodation for the sensitivity of antiquities to the environment was made. No insurance or
other indemnjﬁcaﬁoﬁ was sought or purchased. Levenda testified that the truck could be
caJ:rﬁng anywhere from $100,000.00 to $1 million dollars’ worth of artifacts. This Grand Jury
.has learned that the rental truck would often be left sittiné unattended in the parking lot of 8
motel as Levenda and Pickles made their way back across the country to the city with Reed’s
purchases. When they arrived, Levenda testified, they would deliver the load of artifacts to the

‘ “D and D building” located pear the incinerator and unload the artifacts into a storage room
there.

On one such 2004 trip, Levenda submitted receipts to the Harrisburg Authority for

| reimbursement in the amount of $9,900.00. Even Thomas Mealy expressed concern about this
reimbursement request because-it inclided alcohol, typically an item unavailable for
Ieunbuxsement by the Authority. Levenda told Mealy that he was “driving a 25 foot truck
through blizzards and tormados and at the end of the day if I want a drink T am gomg to have

one.” That reimbursement request was paid.

Special Agent Lecadre testified ‘Lhai he and Special Agent Thomas Gote interviewed
Stephen Reed on April 7, 2015. LeCadre testified that during the course of the interview, Reed
was asked about using John Levenda and Rick Pickles to transport artifacts. Reed indicated to
the agents that the éity “literally saved tens of thousands of dollars” by utilizing those gentlemen
to do that work. Reed considered Pickles’ r;cﬁons as part of his duties as a city police officer to
protect the a:ﬁfacts'dming the shipping process. LeCadre testified that Reed did not consider the
useA of a city police officer to be inapproprate. Reed informed LeCadre that he allowed Pickles
“to be carried as “administrative leave with pay” while on these assigninents.
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Review of documentation from Pickles’ personnel file indicate that there are three

separate instances where Pickles’ time sheet was changed from vacation time to “leave with pay”

at the behest of Reed.

~ The first incident occurred in 2004. Tn an August 17, 2004 memo from Reed to the
director of Human Resources, Reed indicated that Captain Pickles was “dispatched be the City
of Hauisbﬁg for the purpose of renting a vehicle and retrieving items purchased by the City in
other states and retuminé them safply to Harrisburg.” Reed indicated that Pickles’ leave for Méy
10-14 vand May 17 should be changed from “Vacation With Pay” to ‘‘Adn:linisi:raﬁve~ Leave”.
Thére is a follow-up email from Deborah Felker, Personnel Officer with the Buieaubf Human
;esources to Pickles where she.confirms that “pursuant to Mayoral inétructions”, she converted
those vacation days to 1eave with pay. A review of his leave hlstoyy for the year also |

demonstrates that the modification-was made.

The second incident occurred in 2005. In en August 3, 2005 memo from Reed to the
director of Human Resources, Reed indicated that Captain Pickles was a represeﬁtaﬁve of the
City of Harrisburg in a visit to the Eastern Professional Baseball League All-Star Game in
Portland, ME from July 8-17. Reed indicated that Pickles’ leave history should be adjﬁsted to
édmiuisttaﬁve leave so that his personal leave and vacaﬁpn time remain unaffected. A review of

his leave }ﬁstory for\2005 does not show that he used vacation or personal time for these dates.

The third incident occurred in 2006, In a February 12, 2007 memo from Reed to the
director of Human Resources, Reed indicated that Pickles was on “detached assignment in
* comnection with the Winter Meetings of Professional Baseball” from November 29, 2006 until

December 13, 2006 and that his leave should be changed to administrative leave rather than
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personal or vacation leave. There is a follow-up email from Deborzah Felker, Director of Humsan

Resources to Pickles where she indicated that “per Mayoral djrecﬁ';'e” she converted all vacation
usage to administrative leave for the period of November 26 through December 13, 2006.
Documentation from the Personnel system indicates that he was on Leave With Pay status for all -

of these dates.

Todd Vander Woude tesﬁﬁEd before this Grand Jury; Vaudéf Woude was employed as
the general manager for the Harrisburg Senators from 1992 until 2007. Ya:uder Woude testified
that the HCBC board had five (5) members and that Reed appointed them. Vander Woude
corroborated Martini’s testimony that Reed would attend mid-winter baséball ﬁmeﬁngs at the
civic 'bageball club’s expense, and therefore the City’s, and sometimes extend those trips to go
artifact shopping. Vander Woude recalled in 2005, for Eiample, Reed went to Boca Raton to
look at a collection of sports memorabilii Vander Woude recalled this instance particularly
because Reed-had written requests for reimbursement for the trip in the amount 0f §10,550.19,
© Vander Woﬁde testified that he was concerned about tbls request as it was an unbudgeted item
and he didn’t fet:i the trip was related to Senators’ baseball but rather to the as yet unbﬁilt Spdrts :

Hall of Fame. That notwithstanding, Reed received his reimbursement.

Vander Woude corroborated Martini’s testimony that Reed would simply submit a
| reque;;t for reimbursement v:rithout any receipts or other documentation and HCBC would simply
cut him a check. Whén shown the Silvertip items recoflered from Martini’s basement which
Were purchased with HCBC money, and indeed were sent in crates marked HCBC to city hal],
Vander Woude wetlﬁed they had nothing to do with the Sengtqrs or even with a Sports Hall of
Fame. He tesﬁﬁed'thai he would not have authorized HCBC money for tho’sc items had he
known that was what Reed was buying. More genera]ly, Vander Woude testified unequivocally
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that HCBC was nota partner with Reed in purchasing artifacts; it was not the business of the

Harrisburg Civic Baseball Club to provide seed money for the Sports Hall of Fame or to buy:
artifacts. Expenditures for artifacts were in no way related to the business of the ball club. As
'with so many other witnesses, Vander Wonde testified he simply didnotgﬁesﬁon Reed. Reed

asked for the money and he-got it.

V. THE HARRISBURG CITY COUNCIL

Richard House was elected to the Harrisburg City Council in 1989 and served for 16
years. He was Council president for 11 of those years. Reéd was tﬁe ﬁlayor tbrpughéut House’s
' entire tenure on city council. Of Reed’s relationship to the Council, House testified “there was a
saying-the media always called th the mayor for life. You know, if you start reading medla
.clips ibng enough you start believing them yourself. That was my beginning interpretation of A
city politics and that’s what I meant by saying he rmled w1th an iron thumb because he never
believed in the phi]qsophy that we could agree to disagree. It was always you vote with me or

you are the enemy.”

Mz. House testifid before this Grand Jury and indicated that in 2001, tere was
position with the Department of the Auditor General that he wanted. M. House asked Réed to
help him to get that job. Reed met with the Auditor‘Genenﬂ but thén informed Mr. House that
he couldn’t help him get the job. Soon after, Reed asked House if he would like to be the
director of community relations for the Harrisburg Senators, a position that did not exist
previously. With respect to thatjob, House testified to the quid quo pro which existed, V“[Reed]

offered me that position because therefore he knew he could control me and he could get me to




get all the votes that he needed for all his projects...” Indeed, Mr. House was asked directly

about the existence of a quid quo pro in the following exchange:

Question: “Did you feel... that this job, for instance, was an example ofa quid quo prd,
in other words, that you understood you were being given that job in exchange for your vote or

the discharge of your official duty? “
Answer: That’s how I felt, yes, sir.”

He went on to tesufy that when Reed gave him the job with the Senators, Reed was buymg not

- just Mr. House’s vote but also the votes of those on c1ty council that House could control.

Randy King, testified befc;re this Grand Jury. Mr. King served as press secretary and
. director of communications for Reed from 1989 to 2007. In that tole he handled-all medig
requests, was the public information officer, wrote press rel‘elas&s, gave interviews, arranged
press conferences and media events and éewed as the legi:slaﬁve liaison to city council whose

meetings he would attend.

He confirmed that when Richard House lost his state job, he went to Mayor-Reed to find
him another job and, when there was no job to be had in state government, Reed gave him a job

as a community relations coordinator with the Harrisburg Senators.

House tesﬁﬁed thai city éouncil often had to deal with issues surrounding the incinerator.
The city often had to use geﬁeral fund money to support the opergﬁdn of the facility. Mr. House
mcaﬁed that the city got so far in debt because of the need to support the incinerator that there
came a time when there was not enough money in the coffers to cover payroll and the city had to

go out and secure bridge loans from the bank. In the worst times, city council was approving a
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| bridge loan every four months justto cover all the debt that the incinerator was creating. This

financial crisis was hidden from the cmzens and was the Eackdmp to the decision to retrofit the

incinerator and to float more than $100 million in bonds in 2003.

The decision to go forwérd with the retrofit of the incinerator was noi one that was made
lightly by the City Council. There were four public meeﬁngs that were held, at which the
general project was discussed. In addition to the public meeﬁngs that were occul:ﬁng, there were
* also many closed door,- private meetings taking place as well. Richard House met with Mayor
Reed on several bccasions to discuss the incinérator and at each of these meetings, it was made
clear to MI House just how iméortént it was to get a yes vote for the incinerator bonds. Mr.
House testified that at the oﬁtsgt, the votes to move forward with the project were not there.
House conveyed this information to Mayor Reeci at one of their meetings. Réed’s response to
learning that there were not enough votes was to ask Mr. House what he had to do for him | .
personally in excha.ngé forMy House gettihg the reqﬁisite number of yes votes for the
incinerator bonds. Mr. Hquse téstiﬁed that he found Reed to be so direct in his proposed bribe
that House aﬂ:dously; and silently, wrote out and held up énote asking Reed whether he was
recordj.;g the conversation. Reed responded by Wntmg down that he was not recoi'ding the

conversation and then asked if Mr. House was recording it.

| Adfter this bizarre meéﬁ.ug between the two public figures, Mr. House went back to City
Council and spbke with other members to"ﬁnd‘ a way to make the incinerator bond vote more
palatable. They devised a plan to create a city council special projects fund where the money
held in the account would be divided amongsf the council members and they could use it to
donate to their own pet projects. A city council woman suggested that Hbusé ask Reed for §1
million and indicated that was the amount of money it would take for her to vote yes for the bond
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deai. Mr. House testified that hé felt that was too larg'e a sum of money and decided to ask Reed
for $700,000.00. He had another meeting with Mayor Reed where he pitched the special projects
fund idea and the $700,000.00 figure. Mr. House testified that Reed was angered by the request,
but when told that the fund was what it was going to take to get the yes votes from city council,
he acquiesced é.ud agreed to $500,000.00. Ultimately, due to budget constraints, the special
projects fund only received $200,000.00 which was divided between all 7 city council members,
with Mr. House receiving a slightly larger portion as the city council president. The money from
the fund Was then donated to va:ious or;ganizaﬁons like The Boys and Girls Club of America,
Salvation Army, Goodwill Industries and other community-based organizaﬁons in the city of

* Harrisburg. Mr. House testified that, although the donations were charitable in nature, each city

council member derived a political benefit from each donation that was made.

Randy King testified that the city council wanted-a WAM fund (Walking Around Money)-
in exchange for pushing forward the vote on the incinerator bonds. He indicated that the WAM
funds were desirable to city council because “they wanted to throw money aromid to community

. groups so they could gather political support” as they were gearing up for re-election.

King was asked directly about the quid pro quo of the WAM or ‘councilmanic’ fund in

exchange for votes:
Question: “ﬁﬂlﬁmately you‘had to sort of agree to cqnfer the fund jw to get -
- them to vote for the - '
A.ﬁl That is correct.

Question: They beld their vote hostage to a benefit at least in the context of that '03 deal?
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A.: That's correct.

VL. HARRISBURG UNIVERSITY OF SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY

Dwayne Meun testified before this Grand Jury. Mr. Maun is employed as the Chief
Financial Ofﬁcerl for the Harrisburg University of Science and Technolo gy In that role, he is
responsible for all the regularly kept business records of the University’s assets. Mr. Maun
testified that Reed is a board member on the University and has served in that capacity since

2002, ‘ ‘ \

Mr. Maun teshﬁed that in 2010 the president of the University was Mel Schiavelli. Maun
tesﬁﬁed-that Schiavelli and Reed were “very close friends.” Maun testified that the proposal was
made by Schiavelli that, when it was clear Reed would not be returning to the mayor’s office,

that “[w]e’re going to find something for Mayor Reed to do. This will help him get on his feet.”

A contract was drafted between the University and Reéd under which Reed would be
paid as a regular guest lecturer in the “political mind” or “civic mind” courses.” Undér the
contract, Reed was also to work with University faculty to dévelop an elective three Mt course
in Entrepreneurship in Government whiﬁh Was to be offered in the spnng of 2011. Addiﬁoﬁa]ly,
Reed would serve on the University advisory board for ‘its éntreprenem:ship program. Reed
would also participate in a panel discussion to be scheduled in the fall of 2010 on topics related
to the future of gaverment. Reed would additionally participate in student recruiting activities

8s appropriate.




TN ]

For these services Reed was to be paid a monthly stipend of $2,000.00 not to exceeda
contract total of $12,000.00. Maun teétifled that, the terms of the contract notwithstanding, the
onl'y services Reed ever provided were to appéa.r as a guest lecturer several times. Maun testified
that he félf the Urﬁversity did not get its money’s worth out of this contract, but that it was paid
in full to Reed. This Grand .Turjr saw thx;: 1099 .fonn issued by the University for 2010 which

demonstrates that he received the full $12,000.00.

Another, similar, contract was created for 2011. Mamhtestiﬁed Reed knew the
University was about to come into $10 million dollars in loan proceeds. Maun testified that the
relationship between Schiavelli and Reed was “pfetty secret.” The two held closed door off site
meetings. Maun testified that this new contract for 2011 was limited to six (6) months and that
lirnitation was mtendedto communicate to Schiavelli the distaste by the Uni#ersity’s

adnrinistrators for paying Reed for another year.

‘Maum testified; with respect to the 2011 contract, Reed didn’t perform any of the services
for which the University contracted. Th;a class for which Rwd ‘was supposed to lectﬁre did not
even exist in the University’s curriculum. The only “recruiting” effort Reed made was to gu't;)
Hamisburg High School and fe]l the students that ﬁey could come to the University of Science
and Technology for free. Maim expressed ambivalence as to whetilcr that was a “recruiting”
activity for which Reed should have been peid. The entrepreneurship program Reed was
supposed to develop hadn’t been established. That notwifhstanding, another contract between
Reed and the University for the .remaining six (6) months of 2011 was drafted. Maun testified
that this occurred during a period when the University wes in financial distress. Tn fact,the
| University missed its débt service payments in 2012 and the County has been paying $1.5
million per year for the past several years due to lack of sufficient funds to pay operations and
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debt service on the bonds. Again, Maun testified that the contract grew out of the personal

relationship between Reed and Schiavelli. Again, Reed recejved 2 $1,000.00 a month for each of
the six months and again, Maun testified, Reed performed none of the éervicgs for which he was
‘being peid. This Grand Jury has seen the 1099 form issued by the University to Stephen Reed
for 2011, which confirms that he was paid $6,000.00: Maun testified that during that time the‘
Univcrsitf was illiquid and did not, and could not pay all of i\‘.é vendors, which is why Reed did

not receive the enﬁie $12,000 in 2011.

. Reed considered that he was owed additional money. Maun testified that in 2012 the.
board of the University held a fund raising challenge. The idea was that individual board
members would plédge or solicit a certain amount of money Wh.'lCh would be matched by oﬁm
board members. Mann testified that Reed parﬁcipéted in this challenge by offering to “forgive”
the money that he was ‘owed’ under the 2611 coﬁtract. Reed proposed that he should then be

credited with having “contributed” that amount to the capital campaign.

Maun testﬁed no contract was drafted between the University and Reed in 2012.
Schiavelli was looking for new employment himself and, Mam testified, was no longer .focused‘
on “feeding a friend.” Maun testified he was not aﬁam that Reed created any work product
under any of these‘ contracts. No syllabi, time cards, class materials or any other tangible product
* which the University might use for the benefit of its students. Maum additionally testified that
usually guest lecturers are not compenéatai By way of comparison, Maun testified, a typical
contract for an adjunct professor would be $3,000.00 per semester. In other words, such an
- adjunct would teach for fifteen (15) weeks and receive $3,000.00. Reeds’ contract paid him four

(4) times what the normal adjunct professor would receive and he did nothing to eam it.

46




VIL. ARTIFACTS.

This Grand Jury has heard testimony ﬁ-om numerous witnesses on the subject of Stephen
Reed’s compulsiorrto purchase antiguities, Collectibles, and other memorabilia. This Grand Jury
finds that Reed demonstrated an almost pathological preoccupation with ‘the act of buying such
artifacts. It has been the uniform testimony of witnesses before this Grand Jury, and the
- irrefutable proof of the evidence presented, that Reed little cared for the ultimate disposition of
the artifucts he purchased on bebalf of the city. Indeed, this Grand Jury finds, that as a result of
his indiﬂ‘ere;nce to the storage and maintenance of objects he purchased, those objects were

exposed to a substantial risk of diminution in value or outright loss.

In addition, as is set out in detail below, this Grand Jury finds that Stephen Reed
impmpeﬂy obtained ﬁossession of hundreds of thousands, if not millions, of dollars’ worth of
artifact$ purchased with the money of the people of the City of Harrisburg in violation of

Pennsylvania’s Criminal Code.

Linda Lingle testified before this Grand Jury. Lingle worked for Reed from 1989 to
January of 2008. She began as the city’s Director of Bureau of Operations and R:venue; twice
served as ‘acﬁng director of Human Resources, and spent her last five (5) years with the city

serving as Business Administrator.

She testified that she knew John Levenda and Richard Pickles would accompany Reed on

trips to shop for artifacts.

She testified Reed would seek reimbursement for those trips and would submit receipts
sometimes. The receipts that were submitted to her were for artifacts not for expenses associated
with the shopping expeditions.
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Ms. Liné;le testified as to the process by‘whic-:h ;such reimbursements were processed. For
example, in 1999, in excess of half a million dollars was disbursed from the city’s general fund
for the purchase of artifacts. Ms. Lingle noted thata secretary to the forrﬁer special prbjects
advisor handled that particular transaction. Evidence shown to Ms. Lingle and to this Grand Jury
comprises the following: Axi invoice dated November 3, 1998 billed to Stepheﬁ Reed, Mayor,
from Purple Sage Antique Guns and Corrales, New Mexico. This itemized fnvoice lists the
artifacts purchased including a badge, pistol, razor, and cane ostgnsibly belonging to. Wyatt Earp,
and other items. This Grand Jury notes that the items which appear on the Purple Sage invoice

appear to be Wild Westem era artifacts.

A city check requisition form was completed: Ms. Lingle did not know why the special
project advisor’s secretary filled out the form. Thatform in turn was submitted to Robert
Kroboth, the city’s former ﬁnancial director, for review and approval. This Grand Jury notes

_that the descnpnon given on the check requisttion form mdlcai&s “civil war archives” even
| though the items pmchased are plamly described as belonging to the “Wild West” era. This
Grand Jury finds it mxsleadmg to characterize an item sold as Wyatt Earp’s cane &s &n item

appropriate for “Civil War” EIChlVBS

That notwithstanding, a city check mumbered 16090 for $540,000.00 and dated August
10, 1999, was produced. This Grénd Jury notes that the memd line indicates “Civil War M.”
Ms. Lingle observed that it appeared as though the description of the itemé had transformed from
Wild Westemn nature on the invoice to Civii War archive on the check fequisiﬁon to Civil War

“M” on the public check drawn on the city’s funds.
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Randy King described Reed’s acquisition of artifacts, “his first project was_the National -

Civil War Museum, and he began buying artifacts for tﬁal,_prdbablyin the mid-90°s. It got to the
point where he had purchased about $2 million dollars® worth of stuff, and to purchase these

‘ artifacts he would take ﬁmney from various city accounts and council eventually found out ebout
this and put road blocks up to prevent him from using public dollars, tax dollars to do this. He |
reached the poi.n{ where he had acquired about $2 million dollars’ worth of artifacts for the
National Civil War Mtlsemﬁ and [Reed’s former special projects advisar] and I were very
concerned a.bouf thjs,' we f_hoﬁght he was getting out of control. So we weat in and talked tp him
Vone night and beggeﬂ him 1o stop and he told us he was nearly finished. Well, he was not. He
spent a lot more. [The éivilkWar Mmm] AOpened in 2000 to rave reviews and kind of energized
hiro to puéh forward w1th other museum projects including the National Museum of the Old
West, the Pennsyivania Fire Museum, the Pennsylvania Sports Hall of Fame and the African
American Museum. His artifact acquisition activities increased dramatically. By this time [city]
council prevented him from using regular city budget funds to pmchase artifacts, sd.thay setupa
spe,cialuproj ects fund et the Harrisburg Authority to funnel money through to allow the Mayor td

continue his artifact acquisition activities.”

Mr. King tésﬁﬁed it was his belief that by the mid-2000"s the city had collected more
than enough artifacts to populate any of the proposed museums and that he began to believe that
the purchase of the amfacts was a therépeuﬁc persoﬁal éndeavor - a personal means bf stress
| management. King testified that artifact collection would occupy Reed for day.'s onend. He
would add acqﬁisiﬁon of artifacts to any oﬂicial trip he took. King testified that before he‘ would
leave for a trip, Reed would have a staffer prepare stacks of UPS slips, filled out with City Hall’s

address and his name. When he ptm:hased artifacts he would put them in plastic tubs, tape them
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_ up and affix the UPS label to them and, within days of Reed’s departure for a given trip, King
testified, UPS would begm de]ivéring tubs to city hall. King testified that there were periods of
time where the office was so full of these blue plastic tubs that it was difficult for staff to

" maneuver around thern.

King testified that both he and other city officials would go to Reed an a weekly basis
and tell him “you've got to.stop this, you've got to cut it out, it’s just going to kill your career”

but that Reed would not listen. He would simply repeat to them that he was “almost finished.”

ang testified that hc believed acquisition of artifacts was a personal release for Reed, a
. sort of private hobﬁy that made him happy and allowed him to feel relaxed. King expressed his
personal view, and this Grand Jury notes he is not a clinician, that Reed suffered from depression
which began to manifest itselfin a more pronounced way in the early 2000°s. King felt that

Reed developed a binge artifact buying “addiction” that had a salutary effect on his mood.

King testified that it was his opinion as a member of Reed’s executive staff that Reed
would sometimes claim to be traveling to an engagement on city business at City tax payers’

expense when the “real” purpose of the trip was artifact shopping.

King testified that as the blue tubs of artifacts wouid come into city hall, Reed would
have public works employees come to transport the tubs to places around the city where they
would be stored. King testified Reed made no effort to comprehensively catalog or record the

iterns bought with public money or the expenses incurred in acquiring them.

King testified that when Reed would travel to purchase artifacts he would attempt to
“sweet talk™ the vendor into giving him possession of the artifacts in exchange for sﬁbsequent S
payment by the city. The seller would fax a purchase order to city hall and it was King’s
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impression that Reed did not much concern h:mself with the city requisition and payment

‘procedure.

Robert Kroboth testified before this Grand Ji ury. Kroboth served as the city’s finance
director, a sort of Chief Financial Officer for the city, and testified he was accordingly involved

in accounts payable, audits, budget development and providing financial data on the business of .

. the city.

Kroboth corroborated Lingle’s testimony with respect to the city check requisition

.procedure. Mr. Kroboth could not explain why more than half a million dolars was paid out of

the city capivtalA projects fund to pay for artifacts pursuant to the Purple Sage invoice described
above. Mr. Kroboth testified it was “curious™ that the description of the items transformed from
'Wild Westem era objects on the invoice itself to the “Civil War M” when the check itself was

made out. . ' . '

Mr. Kroboth was shown an emml obtained by investigators from him to the Executive

Director of the National Civil War Museum, in which he directed that Brett Kelly delete then

‘missing THA purchased artifacts from the manifest then add them back to the manifest once they \

had been located. Mr. Kroboth was unable to remember the facts that precipitated his request to
remove missing artifacts from the THA inventory. He assured the Grand Jury that it wes not

their intent to hide artifacts.

Special Agent Craig LeCadre testified that agents of the Office of Attorney General'

. executed a search warrant upon Stephen Reed’s personal office and storage facility located in

downtown Harrisburg. At this facility, which is a former hospital building converted for

commercial use, Reed enjoys the use of the entire ground floor comprising some twelve (12)
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individual rooms.'® In each and every room they searched, this Grand Jury has learned, agents

found artifacts and collectibles of every description co-mingled with documents and other
objects and piled from the floor to the ceiling. This Grand Jury finds that Reed created in this
suite of rooms & veritable treasure house comprising quite literally thousands of items which

“belonged to the people of the city of Harrisburg.

In the first room searched, agents discovered that Reed had re-created his mayorgl office
in the largest of the cdmmercial‘storage rooms. Special Agent LaCadre tésﬁﬁed to, gnd this
Grand Jury exmmned photographs of, this area. In it, Reed had displayed his many civic awards
and commendations as well as various historic artifacts including a saddle and other Westem

‘items.

During the execution of this warrant, agents mtemewed Stephen Reed Iegardmg the
contcnts of the rooms being searched: Reed represented o mvestlgators that they would not find
' any city property stored there, thai the items comprised his personal collccﬁon, and inthe
unlikely event that city property was dlscovered, it would be because it had been madvertenﬂy” ‘
packed by city employees and brought there mthout his knowledge. This Grand Jury ﬁnds that |

assertion to be wholly incredible and belied by the facts as found below.

* Special Agent LeCadre testified to, and this Grand Jury examined photographs of, some
examples of items discovered in the numerous rooms of Reed’s facility. The contents of thgse -
rooms were not organized in any discernable way and objects and décmnents lay strewn in heaps
on the floor and piled in high stacks’ that sometimes reached almost to the ceiling. Some of the

items observéc} included & life sized sarcophagus, a full suit of armor, a suit of chain mail, a

10 7he owner of this facility provided this very large space to Reed for his
personal and exclusive use rent free as an accommodation and out of respect
for the former mayor.
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Calvary soldier’s saddle, bugle, and sword, native American items, horse and stage coach tack,

wardrobes of uniforms from various .eras including WWII and Vietnam, militaria, farming
implements, litho- and photographs, what appeared to be a life sized buffalo head, and a host of

other items.

Agents of the Office of Attorey General were obliged to spend hundreds of hours, in a
process which is still ongging, carefully to sort through the items discovered and saféguard and

attermnpt to identify them. ‘

- To aid them in this effort, investif;atorg contacted Brett Kelly, a curator of the National
Civil War Museum. Mr. Kelly testified before this Grand Jury. While Reed was still in office,
Kelly worked to catalog and inventnrﬁz the stream of artifacts flowing into .the c1ty from Reed’s
sundry shopping expediﬁons. Particularly, Kelly would retrieve itemns from city hall when they
would arrive in shipments and would take them to the “D and D™ building near the incinerator.
He would also receive items at the “D and D building as they were either shipped there or

brought by Levenda and Pickles.

Kelly testified that tﬁe “D and D” building was a large warehouse located by the
incinerator. The buﬂéing was heated and cooled by the use of large, antiquated surplus naval
 units that often broke, rendering the temperature in the building susceptible to vast fluctuations.
The warc]ionse had large rollup garage bay entrances that, Wwhen opened, would let in a myriad of
| insects as well as stray birds. The roof, while mostly waterproof, had sun lights that had been
cealed with tar which melted and dripped into the building and onto the artifacts in the summer
months. None of these conditions were conducive to proper storage of rare historical anﬁquiﬁes,

certainly not if the overarching goal was placement in a museum. Kelly recalled with deep
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regret that artifacts were simply rotting at the “D and D™ building, Omne such example to which
he testified was when an exquisite tapestry had been brought into the “D and D’ building that
was filled with bright colors and intricate designs. Within weeks, the moths had gotten to it and
had laid their larvae within it Shortly the_reaﬁer, the entire tapestry had become & pile of grayish
goo. He indicated that it was a constant struggle at the building to keep on top of all of the
environmental enemies to the artifacts and that the job was bigger than somethirg that he alone

* could handlé. Kelly testified that he repeatedly raised his concerns with the CEO of the Civil
War Museum wﬁé theﬁ relayed those concerns to Reed. The response that Kelly got back fr;)m
the CEQ was-that he should begin to distance himself from the building and the task of caring for

the artifacts.

For someone who spent mil]ioﬁs of dollars of city mdney on the purchase of the artifacts,
Reed did not seem to have any care or concem about thern once tﬁey had bpen purchased. He
did not listen to the concerns of Mr. Kelly, as relayed to him by the CEO of T.hel Civil War
 Museumn. He did not venture to the “D and D™ building when a big shipment was cominé into
be able to view the artifacts as theyV arrived. Indeed, Mr. Kelly only vaguely recalls one time in

which Reed visited thi: “D and D” building in all of his service there.

| Kelly testified that in an attempt to maintain some sort of record of tﬁe greai many items
being arbitrarily purchased, Kelly began to undertake an inv;mtoi'y. He was able to take over a
Yist that had been kept by Reed’s secretary beginning in, 1994 and greatly expand it to capture a
great deal more information than it had previously includ;:d_ Kelly testified that to each item
received by him Kelly would as_sign an “accessian number.” This number is a convention used
in cataloging thé collections of museums. Each number comprises three values separated by
decimal points. For example, the number 2000.28.43 would indicate that the particular item was

54




. I A o PR PR P S THIp P -
PR 1SN R A O TS ST U K T EITOP ENEIIDY.] 714 Y. S TP ooy

acquired in the year 2000, was the is“’ Jot of items to be acquired in that year, and was the 438
item within that lot. In the data base he was creating, Kelly testified, in addition to assigning

each item an accession number, he pfovided a description of the item and the price the city had -
paid for thai item when it conld be determined from the documentation Which accompﬁed the

shipments.

- Mr. Kelly did his best to capture in his inventory all of the items of which he was aware.

Mr. Kelly provided that inventory to-investigators.

Investigators then began to compare the items discovered in Reed’s suite of storage
rooms to ThoSe listed on the city’s manifest. It should be noted, and Mr. Kelly and other .
.witnesses testified, that the items which appear on that inventory are city property. They were

acquired with ¢ity money, and were shipped or delivered by city employees to a city facility.

Over and over, investigators discovered items in Reed’s personal storage facility which
appeared on the city’s manifest of ciijr property. A spl;ea;isheet Summarizing those items which
belonged to the city and were discc.)vered in Reed’s private storage facility .is attached to this
| .Presentﬁlent The aggrepate Value’of those items discovered which appear on the city’s manifest

is, so far, $121,169.20.

Mr. Kelly téstiﬁed he was shocked at the sheer scope. and number of artifacts discévered
in Reed’s storaée rooms. Kelly testified he thought he had seen the extent of the Wild Western
collection amassed by Reed but that the staggering mumber of items found in Reed’s possession
would be sufficient to fo@ a museum collection all on its own. Having had the op;;ortum'ty to
survey those items discovered by OAG mvesﬁgaioré in Reed’s possession, aﬁd understanding

that he could not identify and reliably appraise each item, Mr. Kelly nonetheless felt confident
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that such a collection, when compared wih the insured and appraised collection of the Civil Waz
Museum, was worth millions of dollars. This Grand Jury finds Stephen Reed lied to
invesﬁgaiorg when he repmsentedthai there was no city property, oronly a sma]l amount of
inadvertently transparted ‘city property, to be found in his possessiom To the conirary, hundreds
of artifacts which appear on the manifest of city property, and for which no evidence exists that

Reed subsequently purchased or obtained lawfully, were discovered in this treasure house.

In addition to stolen artifacts, investigators discovered-boxes of documents which beleng-
to the city of Harrisburg. These do not include Reed’s personal papers, notes, and other A
documents, ﬁMCh of course, it woula ha;le been appmﬁriatc for Reed to take with him when he
left office. Rather ﬂ;&se documents c;,omprise official correspondence, memoranda of

negotiation, and other records which beloﬁged to the city and are part of its institutional memory.

A warrant was also executed at Reed’s three story private residence in the’city of
Harrisburg. Even ha\"]’ng seen and cataloged the vast collection secreted away by Reed at his

storage building, investigators testified they were shocked by what they found. Thousands more

artifacts, many of an American Westermn theme, were densely packed into the living spaces,

basement, and along stairwells and hallways. Statuary,' oil paiziﬁjlgs, pottery, weapons, clothing
a ‘“vampire hunting kit.’ and all manner of other itéms were displayed on table tops, walls, in

cabinets, on the floor and on top of television sets and furniture. Some items still had tags from

the City’s auction of Western memorabilia attached. Both auction houses confirmed to the

Grand Jurf that no record existed of any auction purchases by Stephen Reed. The process of
cataloging these items is ongoing, but many items found in Reed’s home appear on the manifest

of city property referenced above.
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Additionally, this Grand Jury heard testimony that in the period between the search of
- Reed’s storage facility and the search of his home, Reed travelled to Gettysburg to attempt to sell
a number of firearms on consignmént. Investigators recovered those weapons, and at the ﬁxqcs
of this presentment, at least twenty appear on the list of city property. In a television interview |

played for this Grand J ury, Reed asserts that all the artifacts found in his home belong to him.

In conclusion, this Grand Jury finds that Reed exercised control over the municipal

enterprises described above to such a degree that they became mere ciphers.

‘We find that Reed improperly diverted proceeds from bond offerings which were
themselves ill-advised, portions of which were used to fill the coffers or reimburse the City so
that Mr. Reed could pursue his interests. In every instaqce, bonds were sold for one pﬁrpose and

‘—some of the proceeds spent on another purpose This diversion was activgly hidden from
investors and the citizens of Harrisburg. Transparency and competition fof city business were
‘subverted in favor of obﬁiscaﬁon and patronage. ch’g which eﬁcumbers Harrisburg to ﬂus day
was hwdlessl}} issuéd:to enable the Purchase éf artifacts and to pay select professionals. We find - |
that Reed offered thmgs of value to officials m exchange for the discharge of their official duties
. and to bring them to h_eel. ‘We find that Reed iminroperly retained possession of a massivé
collection of city property at the expense of the city and iﬁ creditors. Ultimately, Reed began to
ﬁeaf;thercity’s aésets as his own and to build a city which was a monument to him and not

admipistered for the.common good.
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RECOMMENDATION OF CHARGES
Based upon the evidence that we have obtained and considered, which establishes a

prima facie case, we, the members of the Thirty-Seventh Statewide hl\;esﬁgaﬁng Grand Jury,

recommend that the' Attorney General, or her designee, institute criminal proceedings against the

person listed below and charge him with the following offenses:

STEPHEN REED

' Corrupt Orgenizations - 18 Pa.C.S.A. § 911
l\disapp}icaﬁon of Property of the Government - 18 Pa.C.S.A. §' 4113
Decepﬁye Business fractices - 18Pa.C.S.A. § 4107
Tampefing with Records - 18 Pa.C.5.A. § 4104
Securing Execution.of Document by Deception - 18Pa.C.S.A. § 4114
Theft by Failure to Make Required Disposition - 18 Pa.C.S.A. § 3927
Theft by Deception - 18Pa.C.5.A. § 3922

| Théft by Reéeiving Stolen Prc;perty - 18Pa.C.S.A. § 3925
Theﬁ of Services -  18PaC.S.A.§ 3926
Brbery - 18 Pa.é.S.A. § 4701

Dealing in Proceeds of Unlawful Activities - 18 Pa.C.5.A. § 5111
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EXHIBIT B



PR SRR PP DRI

. | COMMONWEALTH OF POLICE CRIMINAL COMPLAINT
| PENNSYLVANIA COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA
COUNTY OF:DAUPHIN , VS.
Magisterial District Number: 12-3-03
MD.: Hon. WILLIAM C. WENNER DEFENDANT: {NAME and ADDRESS):
Address: 5925 STEVENSON AVE, SUITE B STEPHEN RUSSELL REED
H ARRISBURG PA 17112 First Name Middle Name Last Nams Gen.
Tetephone: (717)545-0261 212 CUMBERLAND STREET
HARRISBURG, PA 17102 ,
sl o o U NCIGExtradilod Code Type L Tt T e s T
B4 1-Felany Full [J 4-Felony No Ext. [J B-MisdemeanorLimited O E-Misdameanor Panding
[0 2-Felony Ltd. [] 5-Felony Pand. [ c-Misdemeaner Surmounding States O Distancs:
[ 3-Felony Surrounding States E A—Misdemeanor Full [0 D-Misdemaanor No Exh’adiﬂon
o " "DEFENDANT IDENTIFICATION INEORMATION _ R
Docket Number Dahe F fied ; DTNILIvaScan Numbar Complaintincidant Number SID Requm Lab Services?
R-228-15 0211412015 T /64 43-1036-13 Oves [1NO
GENDER pos 08/09/1949 | pos SHIPPENSBURG, PA Addipoe [ /[ | Co-Dafondant(s) [
B3 Male First Name Middie Name : Last Name : - Gen,
'[] Female AKA STEVE : REED °
[RACE P White ~ O Astan L1 Black [ Native Americen [T Unknawn
_ETHNICITY [ 1 Hispanic L1 Nen-Hispanic ) L1 Unknown - .
HAIR COLOR BIGRY(Gmy) [JRED(Red/aubn) [ SDY (Sandy) Oswewe)  CJPLE (Pupls) [ BRO (Brown)
[k plack) ] ONG (Oranga) I wHI (white) O (UnkmBax)  [JGRN(Green) [ PNK (Pink)
[ BLN (Blonde ! Strawbery) ‘ : _ ’
EYE COLOR [ BLK (Black) Osw (Blwe} - Xl BRO (Brown) [T GRN (Green) " cGRY (Gry)
] HAZ (Haza)) O MAR (Maroon) [ PNK (Pink) ] MUL (Mutticolored) I7] 300 {Unknavm)
Ucenss Numbar 14809417 | Expires: 08/10/2015 - WEIGHT {1bs) |
DNA Location : ' : 150
) | MNU Number | R -HEIGHT i |
o 5 10
AR ~ DEFENDANT VEHICLE INFORMATION e T R T
| prate £ GBOGOOT S‘:&e Hazmat s :‘;ﬁm / Com;: .;:, Veh, O ssggo[ O Oth. Nélc Veh. Cods :arnnga
' .VIN S Yoear | Make Modal Style Color G as Def.
CHEVY EQU sl ®

' Office of the attarney for the Commonwealth O Approved [ Disapproved because;

: (The' attomey for tha Commonwealth may requlre that the complaint,
to fillng. See Pa.l

R.Cim.P. 507).

‘warrant affi % appmved fy the attomey for the Commonwealth prar
/% N 10 A

{Nama of the atiomay for the Commonwealth) of tha attomney for the Cmnmma}ﬂ':) (Data)
i, INSPECTOR CRAIG S. LECADRE 902 / //“%’»
(Name of the Afftant) _ (PSPIMPOETC -Assigned Afiant 1Y Number & Badge #

of PA OFFICE OF ATTORNEY GENERAL

0222400

(Identify Departrmant or Agency Represented and Political Subdtvision)
do hereby state: (check appropriate box)
1. [ laccuse the above named defendant who lives at the address set forth above
(3 I'accuse the defendant whose name is unknown to me but who Is described as

{Palice Agency ORI Number}

11 accuse the defendant whose name and popular deslgnaﬂon or nickname are- unknown to me and whom | have
therefore deslgnated as John Doe or Jane Doe
with violating the penal laws of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania at

“(HE&E’PW
in DAUPHIN County 1 ] on or about
. {County Cods) '
AQOPC 412A — Rev. 09/12 Pagelof __




4 POLICE CRIMINAL COMPLAINT

Docket Number: Date Filed: | OTN/LiveScan Number Complalnt/incident Numbey
R-22815 07/14/2015 | T 6767644 43-1036-13
Defen dant Name | First ‘ Middle: Last
_ | STEPHEN | RUSSELL REED

2.1 ask that a warrant of arrest ora summons be Issued and that the defendant be required to answer themharges i have
made.

3. I verify that the facts set forth in this complaint are true and correct to the best of my knowledge or information and bellef.
This verification is made subject to the penalties of Section 4304 of the Crimes Code (18 Pa.C.S. § 4904) relating fo
unsworn falslfication to authorities. : '

4. This complalnt consists of the preceding page(s) numbsred __ thmugh —
The acts committed by the accused, as listed and hereafter, were agalnst the peace and dignlty of the Commonweahh

of Pennsyivanla and were contrary fo the Act(s) of the Assembly, or in violation of the statutes cited.
-(Before a warrant of arrest can be issued, an affidavit of probable cause must bs completed sworn to before the -

issuing authority, and attached.)

{Signaturs of Affiant}

{Date)

_AND NOW, on this date Jily 14, 2015 1 ceriify that the cnmplalnt’has baen properly complatéd and verified.

An affidavit. of probable cause must be completed before & warrant can be issued. :
' iy,
\\\\\\\“ Uity
\\fo STP’?;M"

12 -3 3 | N D2 e

(Maglsterlal District Court Number) ‘ (issuing Authority)

ol COUTNERS
£/ o?-
'7”111111131‘:1\\\\“

AOPC 412A — Rev. 09/12 Page _of __
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P

@ POLICE CRIMINAL COMPLAINT

Docket Number: Date Flied: OTN/LiveScan Number Complaint/incident Number
R-228-15 07/13/2015 | T 6/6/64-4 43-1036-13

Defendant Nams | Lo B Middle: ‘ | Last

ST | STEPHEN . RUSSELL REED

The acts committed by the accused are described below with each Act of Assembly or siatute allegedly viclated,
appropriate, When there is more than one offense, each offense should be numbered chronologically.

- nchoate | [0 Attempt 00 Sollcitation [ Conspiracy
L Offense | 18901 A 18902 A 18903
O (o1 [eu I8 (203 Jz |k |
Lead?  Offense# Seclion Subsection Counts Grads NCIC Offsnisa Code UCR/NIBRS Code
" PannDOTData | Accldent . . )
. {ifapplicabla) | Number , [J interstate [ Safety Zone [ Work Zone

Statute Description (Iinclude the name of statute or ordinance): Comupt Organizations

lnchoata [ Attompt - O solicitation ~ [ Consplracy

Offénsae - 18901 A _ - 18002A " 18903
O (02 . [5111 |A (1)(2) B
Lead? Offonsed Sechion Subsection Couns Grade ____WCIC Offensa Code ICRINBRE Code
"PennDOTData - | Accdant ' ' ‘
ifappllcabla)_ 1 Number | O Interstete [ safety Zone ] Work Zone »

~é—':;é{tute_ Description {include the name of statute or ordinance): Deallng in Proceeds of Uniawful Activities

“Jachoate | [J Attempt [ soiicitation [1 Conspiracy
“Offanss - 18901 A | 189024 . 18903
O |03 |3922 | AL 18CSA. |2 |F1 |

iL’Bﬂd? _Offense# - Section Subsection PA Statute (Title} Counis Grade NCIC Offanse Caode UCRIN&BRS’CodaV

?ﬁlgﬁ;gg mt?:l‘l : [ interstate [ safety Zone O Work Zone.

Statute Description (include the name of statute or ordinance): Theft by Deception

| ‘Sgtfortha bdefsununary of the facts sufficlant to advise the defendant of the nsmrﬁ of the offensa{s) charged, A citation to the statute(s) allagadly
Viglated, without more, Is not sufficlent. In a summary case, you must cita the specific section{s} and subsection{s) of the statita{s) or ordinanca(s)
‘allegedly violated. The ags of the vistim at the tima of the offanse may ba Included if known. In addition, social sactrity numbers and financial Information

{e.q. FINs} should nat ba listed. if the [dantity of an account must be established, lIst only the last four digits. 204 PA.Code 5§ 213.1-213.7.

Acts of the accused: _ ] ‘ i - i
.1, That on and about diverse dates from December 24, 1990 through January 2010, the Defendant, a person, unlawfully through a pattern of reckeleering
activity that Indudes but Is not Iimited to acts which are Indictable under Chapter 47 (relating to bribery and comupt infitence) and Chapter 39 (relating to
theft offenses), acquired or malntained, directly or Indirectly, any Interest in or control of the enterprise then known as The Harrisburg Authority. Onor
| ‘aboit diverse dates from December 24, 1990 through January 2010, the defendant, a person employed by or associated with the enterprise, participated,
efther directly or indirectly in the conduct of The Hamisburg Authority's affalrs through 2 pattem of racketeering activities that Inciudes but Is not limited to
| ‘acts which are indlictable under Chapter 47 (relating to bribery and corrupt Infiuence) and Chaptes 39 (relating to theft offenses). '

2. On or about diverse dates from January 1, 2000 through September 7, 2007 the defendant conducted a finandal ransaciion with the knowledge that the
property Involved, Induding stolen or Hlegally obtalned property, represents the proceeds of unlawful activity, the defendant acted with the intent to promote
the carrying on of the uflawful activity, On or about diverse dates betwean May 18 and May 31, 2015, the defendant, conducted a financial transaction
Involving consigning 20 firearms to a retall estabilshment In Gettysburg with knowledge that the property invalved, Induded stolen or illegally obtained
property, represented the proceeds of an unlawful act and that the ransaction was designed In whole or In part to conceal or disguise the natire, location,
source, ownership o control of the proceeds of said unlawful activity by use of menles unfawfully cbtained from the City of Harrisburg and the Harrisburg
Authority and by dealing In stplen property obtained with thase monles. .

3. On cr about September 2003, the defendant intentionally obtalned property with a value over $500,000.00 from the Harvisburg School District by
deception with respect to the dosing costs of its 2003 debt offering. On or about various dates from May 2000 todanuary 2010 the defendant Intentionally
obtained property with a value over $500,000.00 from the Harrisburg Parking Authority by deception by transferring monies Into the spedal projects fund.
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&' POLICE CRIMINAL COMPLAINT

Docket Number: Date Flled: OTN/LiveScan Number Complaintiincident Number
®-228-15 07/14/2015 T 6767644 43-1036-13

Defand ’-Nérﬁe'" First: : Middie: ~ flast

e | STEPHEN , RUSSELL REED

The acts committed by the accused are described below with each Act of Assembly',or statute allegedly violated, if

appropriate. When there is more than one offense, each offense should be numbered chronologically. v

(Set forth a brief summary of the facts sufficlent to advisa tha defendant-of the naturs of the offense{s) charged. A citstion fo the statuta{s) allegedly
violated, without more, Is not sufficient. In a summary cass, you must cits the spacific section(s) and subsaction{s) of the statuta(s) or ordinance(s)
allegedly viclated., Tha aga of the victim at the ime of the offense may be Included If known. In addition, soclal security numbaers and financlal information
(e.g. PINs) should not be fisted. If the Identity of an account must be astablished, list only the last four digits. 204 PA.Code §§213.1 -213.7)

~Inchoate “ [] Attampt [] Solicitation O Conspiracy
NSE 185801 A 18802 A 18903

0 {04 [3922 |a@) [BEEH 18csA 1 [F3 R
Lr_:ad?_ Oﬂanse# - Secﬁon _ Subsection PA Stsluta 3) Counis Grade _ NCIC Offensa Cods UCRINIBRS Coda
[ FemeCTom [ | | Dvesse | Dowoyzone | O voszon

Statute Description (include the name of statute or ordinance): Theft by Deception

Acts of the accused assoclated with this Offense: On or about diverse dates between Jung 2008 and December 2008, the defendant
intentfonally obtained or withheld property of the City of Harrisburg , by deception In an amount in excess of $2,000.00 and less than $100,000.00 with
respect to Invoices submitted for travel reimbursement. -

ate | [J Attempt - [1 Sellcitation L1 Conspiracy
18 901 A v . 18902 A - 18903

O jos |32 - |18csA |1 |R2 L
Logd?.  Offanse# Secilon Subssection — PA Siatute (Title). ‘Cournts Grade NCIC Offanse Code UCRNIBRS Coda
7. PennDOTData | Accident ‘ ’
_.(Ifapplicable} | Nuriber | Elinorstate | DI Sefety zone O Workzone
Statute Description (Include the name of statute or ordinance): Theft by Deception o

"Acts of the acctsed associated with this Offense: On or about diverse dates between 2004 and December 2008, the defendant Intentionally
- 6btained or withheld property of the City of Hamisburg by deception In an amount in excess of $100,000.00 and less than $500,000.00 with respect to
expenses for the National Sports Hall of Fame Foundation. B .

5| [ Attempt [J Sollcitation ‘ “[J Consplracy
: 188901 A 18902A - 18903

| 4701 [a@ 18CsA |7 |F3

Boclion. Subseclon _ _  PASWWie(ifa] _ Coums _ _ Grade _ NCIC Oenso Code UCR/NIBRS Cods

o : ’ : d;gft [ Interstate - [ Safety Zone [ Work Zone
Statute Deécﬁpﬂon (ihclude the name of statute or ordinance); Bribery In Offical and Political Matters

‘Acts of the accused assoclated with this Offense: Onor about diverse dates between October 1999 and December 31, 2003, the defendant
offered, conferred or agreed to confer upon Richard House the position as "Director of Community Relations® for the Harrisburg Senators Baseball team as
consideration for the dedsion, vote, recommendation or other exercise of official discretion by the rediplent In 2 judicial, administrative or leglsiative
proceeding. On or about diverse dates between 2003 and December 14, 2005, the defendant offered, conferved or agreed to confer upon {6) members of
Harvishurg city cound a benefit as consideration for thelr decision, vote, recommendation ar other exerdse of offidal disaretion by the reciplent In a judidal, -

administrative or legislative proceading.
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5 POLICE CRIMINAL COMPLAINT

“Docket Number: Date Filed: : OTN/LiveScan Number Complaintfincldent Number ]
R-228-15 07/14/2015 | T 6767644 43-1036-13

D "‘t'i'ant‘Naméf o First: . -1 Middle: Last:

RSO STEPHEN ] RUSSELL REED

The acts committed by the accused are described below-with each Act of Assembly or statute allegedly violated, if
appropriate. When there is more than one offense, each offense should be numbered chronolaglcally.

(Set forth a brief summary of the facts sufficlant to advisa the defendant of ther
violated, withaut maore, Is not sufficient. In a summary case,
allegadly violatad. The age of the victim at the ime of the o

ffensa may ba Included If known. In addition, social sacurlty

natwre of tha offense(s) charged. A citation to the statuts(s) allegedly
you-must cita the specific section({s) and subsaction(s) of the statute(s) or ardinance{s)

numbers and financlal Information

(a.g. PiNs) shouild not be listad. If the Identity of an account most ba astablished, list only tha last four diglits. 204 PA.Code §§ 213.1-213.7.)

~Ipchoats | [J Attampt 3 Soficltation O Conspiracy
2 56 . 18801 A 18802A 18903
o {07 |eu3 A (158 [m2 |
_Lesd? Offense# Ssction SBubsection PA Sltatute (Title! Counts Grads NCIC Offense Cods UCR/NIBRS Coda
U PenpDOT Data [ ~Accident : N

| Institutions :

‘Statute Description (indude the name of statute or ordinance): Misapplication of Entrusted Property and Property of Govermment or Fnandal -

Acts of the accused assoclated with thls Offense: On or about Jarwary 2010, the defendant disposed of property of the government (sea
.| Attachments A, B and C), namely the ity of Harrisburg, In a manner which he knows is unlawful and involves substantial risk of loss or detriment to the
‘owner of the property or to a person for whose banefit the property was entrusted.

“Incheate | [ Attempt 3 Solicitation [ Consplracy
. Offénse | 189014 18902 A 18903
O |o8  |4910 -] 18BCSA (1 |M2
Lead? __ Offensef . Secticn ___PA Statute ) Counts Grada NCIC Oifensa Cade UCR/NIBRS Coda
" PannDOTDAR | Accdent l iokzane
{ifappllcablé) | - Numibsr - . . [} Interstats [] Safety Zone d Worannva

; “Statute Deseription (include the name of statute or ordinance): Tampering with or Fabricating Physical Evidence

- Acts of the accused assoclated with thls Offense: On or about diverse dates in May 2015, the defendant belleving that an offidal proceeding or
- investigation was perding or about to be instituted, he altered, destroyed, concealed or remaved any record, document or thing with Intent to impalr its
verity or avallabllity In such proceeding or Investigation by attempting to dispese of evidence by commerdal sale at a retall establishment In Gettysburg.

ita | [J Attempt [J Soiicitation [ Consplracy
] 18801 A 18802 A ) 18 803
Ooe [407-  JA@ 18csA (1 [m2 | o
Lead?  Ofisnselt Section Subsection PA Statuie (Title Counts Grade NCIC Offansa Cods UCR/NIBRS Code
" PennpOTDEE | Acla - P
opiicabiay | bar [ Interstete [ Safsty Zone [ work Z?ne

' Statute Description (Inc!adévt‘ﬁ'e” name of statute or ordinance): Deceptive Business Praéﬁs

Acts of the accused associated with thls Offense: On or ahout September 2003, the defendant, in the course of business, made or Induced
others to rely on false or misleading written statements with respedt to the closing costs of the Harrisburg School District 2003 debt offering for the purpose
of promoting the sale of seaurities, or omitted Information reguired by law to be disdosed In written documents related o securities.
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& POLICE CRIMINAL COMPLAINT

Docket Number: ‘Date Filed: OTN/LiveScan Number Complalntiincident Number
R-228-15 07/14/2015 | T 6767644 43-1036-13
Bafon ant Nama .| First: Middle: Last
R | STEPHEN RUSSELL REED

The acts committed by the accused are described below with each Act of Assembly or statute allegedly violated, If

appropriate. When there is more than one offense, each offanse should be numberad chronologicalty.
(Set forth a brief summary of the facts sufficient to advise thedafendant of tha nature of tha offense(s) charpsd. A cliztion to the statute(s) allegedly
violated, without more, Is not sufficlent. In a summary case, you must cita the spacific section(s) and subsection(s) of the atatuta(s) or ordInance(s)
allagadly violated. Tha age of the victim at the time of tha offense-may be Included if known, In-addition, soclal security numbers and financial Information

(e.g Plﬂa) ahuu!d nat ba listed. If the identity of an account must be established, list only the last four digits. 204 PA.Code §§ 213.1 -213.7.)

X Solicitation {1 consplracy
18802 A 18803
18 CSA 3 M2 |
-2l Subsection PA Statute Counts Grade . NCIC Offsnsa Code UCRMNIBRS Coda
(ifappllﬁbls) O nterstats [J Safety Zone [ Work Zone

Statute Description (Include the name of statute or ordinance): Criminal Solidtation

Acts of the accused assoclated with thls Offense: On or about Avgust 17, 2004, the defendant, with the Intent of promoting or fadlitating its
commission, he commanded, encouraged or requested another person to falsify a leave record for Richard Piddes. On or about August 3, 2005, the
dafendant, with the Intent of promoting or fadiitating Its commission, he commanded, encouraged or requested another person to falsify a leave record for
Richard Pickles. On or about February 12, 2007, the defendant, with the Intent of pmmoﬂng or fadlitating its commission, he commanded, encouraged o -
requested another person to falsify a Ieaveremrdformdxard Pickdes.

[ Sollcitation

] Attempt [ Conspiracy
18901 A 18902 A 16803
O |1 |3925 l18csa {29 |F3) | |
Lsad? _Ofense# Eodlon DA Staia {Tie)__ Counls____Grada____ NCIC Offensa Code UCR/NIBRS Cods
A nDOT Data Accldént : y
ifapplicabie) .- Nurnber O interstats [ safety Zone O Work Zone

“Statute Description (mclude the name of statute or ordlnance) Theft by Receiving Stolen Property

been stolern.

-Acts of the accused assoclated with this Offense: On or about diverse dates from April 2015 to June 2015, the defendant intentionally recelved,
retained or disposed of movable property (see Attachment A) of the Gty of Hanisburg lamwlng that It had been stolen, or believing that It had probably

k [ Sollcitation [ Consplracy
. 18802A 18 803
| J1o0 M1 |
) fils) __ Counis Grada NCIC Gifsnass Cotle UCR/NIBRS Code
(if appllcabla) O Interstate ] Safaty Zone [ Work Zone

Statute Descripton (u'nclude the name of siatute or ordinance): Theft by Recetving Stolen Property -

been stolen.

Acts of the accused associated with thls Offensa On or about diverse dates from Aprl 2015 to June 2015, the defendant Intentionally received,
retained or disposed of movable property (see Attachment B) of the City of Harrisburg knowing that It had been stolen, or believing that it had probably

AOPC 412A — Rev, 09/12
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2 poLi

CE CRIMINAL COMPLAINT
Docket Number: Date Filed: OTN/LivaScan Number Complaint/Incident Number
@-228-15 07/14/2015 T 6767644 43-1036-13
'-béf’é 'aéﬁtﬂatﬂa. . First: Middle; Last;
o o | STEPHEN RUSSELL REED

The acts committed by the accused are described below with each Act of Assembly or statute allegedly violated, if

appropriate: When there is mare than one offense, each offense should be numbered chronalogically. .

{Set forth a brief summary of the facts sufficlent to adviss tha deferidant of tha nature of the offense{s) charged. A citation to the statute(s) allegedly
violatad, without more, Is not sufficient. In a summary case, you must cita tha specific section{s) and subsaction(s) of tha statute(s) or ordinance(s)
allegedly violatad, The age of the victim at the time of tha offense may ba Included If known. In addition, soclal sacurity numbers and financial Information
(.g- PINg} should not be listed. If the identity of an account must be astabfished, list only the last four diglts, 204 PA.Coda §§ 213.1-213.7.)

lnchoata T Attompt T Sallcitation . I Conspiracy

‘Offense | 188014 18902 A 18803 .

O |13 [3925 20 [F2 |

_Lead? _Offensa® Section Counis Grade NCIC Offense Code . UCR/NIBRS Code
_ (fapplcable) | MNumber_ O Interstate L1 Safety Zone L) Work zone
‘Statute Description (include the name of statute or ordinance):

Theft by Recelving Stolen Property

) -Acts of the accused assoclated with this Offense: On or about diverse dates from Apiil 2015 to June 2015, the defendant intentionally recefved,
retained or disposed of movable property {see Attachment C) of the Gity of Harrisburg knowing that It had been stolen, or balieving that it had probably

| been stolen.
| ncheate - | [ Attempt Bd Solicitation [ conspiracy
I Offansa || 7188071A 18802 A 18903
O 14 |39 18sA (3 |F3 ‘
Lead? Offense# Setlion PA Statuta ) Counts Geads NCIC Offansa Cade UCRMNIBRS Cods
[ PennDOT Data™ [ ~Acddent - | | ' -
__[itapplicabls) - [ . ‘Nofmber - L Interstate 0. Safety Zone O Workzone -

:Statute Description (Include the name of statute or ordinance): Theft of Services

| Acts of the accused assoclated with this Offense: On or aboit May 10-17, 2004, the deféndant who had control over the disposition of services
of others to which he ks not entitied, knowingly diverted the services of Richard Pickles to his own benefit or to the henefit of ancther not entitfed theretn.
On or about Juiy B-17, 2005, the defendant wha had control over the dispasition of sesvices of others to which he Is not entitled, knowingly diverted the
Services of Richard Pickles to his own benefit or to the benefit of another not entitled thereto, On or about November 29-December 13,2006, the deferidant
who had contral over the disposition of services of others to which he s not entitled, knowingly diverted the services of Richard Pickles to his own benefit or
to the benefit of ancther not entitled thereto. S .

ata | [ Attempt‘ [ Solicitation -[ Conspiracy . ’
18801A 18802 A 18803 E
| 3921 | 18csA |29 |F3 » j
Subsection PA Statuts (Tiis) Counts - Grade NCIC Cffensa Coda " UCR/NIBRS Code |
PennDOT Data - 1 “Aceident |
if.applicabis) .| . Nufber O Intarstate [ Safety Zane 0 Work 2one

“Stahde Description {inc uid?e the name of statute or ordinance): Theft by Unlawful Taking or Disposition

Acts of the accdsed associated with this Offanse: On or about January 2010, the defendant exercised

d unlawful control aver movable property
(see Attachment A) of the City of Harrisburg with the intent to deprive the ity thereof. ] -
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4% POLICE CRIMINAL COMPLAINT

‘Docket Number: Date Fited: OTN/LIiveScan Number Complalntincldent Number
®R-28-15 | 07/14/2015 T 6767644 43-1036-13
o ‘ndant Name o First: Middle: | Last:
i | STEPHEN . RUSSELL REED

The acls committed by the accused are described below with each Act of Assembly or statute aﬂegedly violated, if

-.appropriate. When there Is more than one offense, each offense should be numbered chronolagleally.
{Sat forth a brief summary of tha facts sufficlent to advise the dafendant of the nature of the offense(s) charged. A citation to the statute(s) allegadly
viclated, without more, Is not sufficient. In a summary cass, you must cite the specific section(s) and subsection(s) of tha statuts{s} or ordinance(s)
allegedly violated. The age of the vicBm at the time of the offense may be Included If known. In addition, social sacurity numbers and financlal lnfurmaﬂon
’ (e g. PINB) shnuld not ba listad. If the [dentity of an account must be establishad, list anly the last four digits, 204 PA.Coda §§ 213.1 —213.7.)

1 OO Attempt [ Solicitation (] Consplcacy
) 18901 A - 18802 A L 18 803
O |16 [3021 18 CSA 120 M1 |
_Lesd? Offense# Secﬂon PA Statula (Title Counts Gradg NCIC Ofanss Coda UCR/NIBRS Cade
CPennDOT Data | ‘Agcident , : :
: {if applicabla) | . ‘Number [ interstats [J Salsty Zone O work Zone

Statute Descripﬁon (lnclude the name of statute or ordinance): Theft by Unlawful Taking ar Disposition

1 Acts of the accused associated with this Offense: On or about January 2010, the defendant exercised unlawful control over movable property of
the Gty of Harrisburg (see Attachment B) with the Intent to deprive the city thereof.

Irichoata | [ Attempt [ solicitation ‘ [ Consplracy
Offensa. | 18901 A 18902 A 18903
f17 | 3921 18CsA |20 |F2
Lead? Secﬁun Subsection PA Stafuta (Titis) - ‘Counts Grede NCIC Offense Code - UCR/NIBRS Code
| "_nnDOT Dats | Accident | ' , -
__(ifapplicabls) | Number _ Ll Intarstate L1 Safety Zone 03 Work zone

[ Statute Descnptlon (Include the name of statute or ordinance): Theft by Uniawful Taking or Dispasition

Acts of the accused associated with this Offense: On or about January 2010, the defendant exerdsed un!awﬁ:{ control over movable pmperty of
the City of Harrishurg (see Attachment C) with the intent to deprive the dty thereof. .

5 1 L1 Attempt [ Sollcitation ' ] Consplracy

Off | 189%07A ‘ 18902 A B 18 503

o[ [ i
Lead? “Offenset A Biatite (TiHe) ___ Courts Grads NEIC Offenss Code UCRINIBRS Coge
 PennDOTData l -

»;__gt(lfapplimble) i [] Interstate [ Safety Zone [ work Zone |

‘ “Statute Dascripﬁon (lncluds the name.of statute or ordinance):
iActs of the accuSéd assoclated with this'Offense:
Page__of _
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& POLICE CRIMINAL COMPLAINT

Docket Number:

OTN/LiveScan Number “Complalitincidert Numbar
07/ 14/2015 T 6767644 43-1Q36-13 e
Middle:
o SI'EPHEN - RUSSELL

SET FORTH IN THE FOREGOING AFFIDAVIT ARE TRUE AND COR
INFORMATION AND BELIEF.

Sworn to me and subscribed before me this

14 day of

AFFIDAVIT of PROBABLE CAUSE

Your Affiant, Inspector Craig S. LeCadre, Pennsylvania Office of Attorney General (hereinafter: OAG), being
duly swom, deposes and says:

Your Affiant has been conducting an inveshgahon of allegations of public corruption Involving the City of
Harrisburg and many of It's ancillary governmental entities which Indudes but is not limited to The Harrisburg

_ Authority, former owner of the Harrisburg Resource Recovery Fadility (incinerator). The OAG's investigation
has utilized the 37th Statewide Investigative Grand Jury seated In Allegheny County under Presentment No.

- 21, same accepted by order of the Honorable Norman A. Krumencker, III, Supervising Judge. This
Presentment, attached to this affidavit and incorporated herein by reference, recommends charges to be filed
by the Attorney General or her designee, against the defendant, Stephen R. Reed. Additionally, there are
three attachments to this affidavit which are referenced as "Attachments A,B and C", respectively.

- Your Affiant has reviewed the above cited Presentment and having been present at all proceedings, finds
that the factual findings described therein correspond to the OAG Investigative findings. Your Affiant has
reviewed the sworn testimony given by the witnesses before the Grand Jury and finds that It is consistent with
the information contalned within the Presentment. Your Affiant has reviewed the evidence presented to the
Grand Jury and finds that it comports with the results of the OAG investigative efforts and findings as to the

- allegations contained in this instant criminal complaint.

Your Affiant states that based upon the above facts, there is probable cause to believe that the defendant,
~Stephen R. Reed, committed the acts alleged therein, in violation of Pennsylvania law and respectfully
requesis the Issuance of this warrant of arrest.

‘ 1, CRAIG S. LECADRE, BEING DULY SWORN ACCORDING TO THE LAW, DEPOSE AND SAY THAT THE FACTS

RECT Ti HE BEST OF MY KNOWLEDGE,

(Signature pf Affiant)

My commission expires first Monday of January, 2 (L

AOPC 411C — Rev. 07/10




~ Attachment A




One 1876 Winchesteraction w/Elevator plate engraved

Cavalry Saddle Set

OB/1SI95 | o o enberg Tombstone AZ $20,000.00 W | 1995315.1
08/18/01 | Bronze (Cowboy on Bucking Bronco) | $19,200.00 W 12001.87.3
4/10/95 | Ford's Theatre Bill, Lincoln's Asassination night $14,500 NCWM | NCWM-00215
05/25/00 | Spanish Armor- 81400000 | W |200123.1
1995 | Single colt action id'd Marcelina Baca $12,000.00 W | 1995.66.1
02/01/96 | Set of 4 Stagecoach Harness $10,000.00 W | 1996.14.2a-d
7/5/1995 | "Lew Wallace Set" $8.50000 | NCWM | NCWM-00391
11/01/00 | #10 Saloon; Deadwood, SD Items $7,500.00 W | 20001018
11/01/95 | Anchor described and copy of certif. authenticity $7,050.00 W | 19954781
Iy ﬁ;egﬁongadekw War Cannon Ca. 1776 30" Unimarked | g0 o000 oL
08/01/01 | Vampire Hunter's Set | $6,500.00 MISC

| 03/04/95 | Tombstone Epitaph, June 15, 1880 $4,900.00 WA | 1995.62.7
03/30/02 | Hanging Rope and Knife of S.F. Vigilante Committes - $4,750.00 W 2003389
09/20/99 | 1890's Large Gaming Wheel | $4,000.00 W | 2000.65.146
11/12/98 | Morgan Earp Door Frame $3,500.00 W |1998.887
01/28/97 | Geronimo by Mary E. Fly Tombstone, Arizona Terr 1903 | $3,500.00 WA | 1997511 |
10/01/96 | Union Pacific Mountsd Ranger Set (4 pcs) £3,000.00 W [1996.1011ad
08/26/02 ‘| Adobe Walls Knife With Letter Of Provenance $3,000.00 W |2002213.18
08/27/99 | Texas Star Gun-Knife Rig | $3,000.00 W |200063.18
01/14/00 | Pistol, Colt, Dug up relic $2,800.00 W |2000.154
05/05/00 | Pharo Table, Portable $2,700.00 W | 2000294
02/01/96 | All Metal Wells Fargo Express Box $2,500.00 W |1996.14.6
12/18/94 | Sacramento Newspaper July-Dec 1881 5250000 | WA |1994.8.18
11/03/98 | Clum Razor & Mug $2,500.00 w |1998898
05/05/00 | Tombstone Tabias Set $2,500,00 W | 2000290
05/05/00 | Knife, 7th Cav. Little Big Horn Relic $2,500.00 W |200060.12
11/01/97 | Missouri Convict’s letter $2,376.00 WA | 19974538
08/27/01 | Wells Fargo Knife & Pistol (Smoot) $2,200.00 W |2001.7028b
05/05/00 1 $2,000.00 W (2000392




\ 11/01/00 iWeHsFargo Scales o ) $2,000.00 l W ‘2000.101.10 '




AttachmentB




Memoirs of S.P. Allen, 1870-80 mumder G. Crook 5th Calvary

08/11/98 $1,900.00 1998.44.17
08/27/01 | Saloon #10 Spitoon & Chuck-a-Luck | $1,800.00 2001.70.5a,b
09/24/99 | Bowie Kaife, 6th Cavalry | $1,800.00 w | 1999.502
07/27/06 | Santiago Nicho $1,600.00 W | 2006262
08/08/95 | Mexican Colonial Cross $1,500.00 W | 19952903
08/08/97 | Crystal Palace liquor license $1,500.00 WA | 1997.35.1
08/30/02 Ghost Dance Beaded Medicine Pouch & ercylnr w/Me@cme 51, 500,00 W 2002‘22]‘"1 3
Symbols N
1 08/12/95 | Gum Stock War club $1,500.00 W | 199551631
08/12/95 | Smith & Wesson Tip up w/bullets $1,500.00 W | 1995.516.63
08/21/02 | Cross Bow $1,450.00 W | 200221543
06/15/95 | Colt Bisley Model 5-1/2 barre} 32-20 cal w/stag grips $1,400.00 w 1995.180.1
05/05/00 | Photograph, 5th U.S. Infantry Ft. Keogh, MT Terr. $1,350.00 WA | 2000315
11/01/97 | Hugh Beckwith Court Findings $1,327.00 WA | 199745.6
-11/01/97 | William Rynerson letter $1,327.00 WA | 1997455
08/17/95 | Cheyenne Indian bag $1,300.00 W (199530817 -
09/01/97 | Indian expedition letter $1,238.00 WA | 1997315
12/18/94 | Sacramento Newspaper Jan-June 1882 $1,200.00 WA | 1994.8.15
12/22/94 | Tombstore Epitaph (19th Century) $1,150.00 WA | 1994.9.13a
03/21/02 | Apache Holster & Matching Knife Sheath $1,100.00 W | 2002352ab
09/01/97 | election certificate $1,054.00 WA | 1997312
08/11/98 | 7th Calvary Marching Photo $1,050.00 WA | 19984450
08/08/97 | Stereoview of Clum & Indians $1,00000 | WA | 1997352
08/30/02 | Arapaho Fully Beaded Sheath W/Knife (Scarce On Rawhide) | $1,000.00 W |{2002221.17ab
04/11/02 | "Billy The Kid" Circulated Poster | $1,000.00 WA | 2002.70.1
11/03/97 Sioux Chief Lone Feather, Yellow B}lll & Cloud, ca 1875 £950.00 w 1997.47.1
albumen . v
11/03/97 | Navajo Chief Manuelito & his Tribe, ca 1865 albumen $950.00 wa | 1997472
111/12/97 | 3 original photographs c1890 of Crow Indians $925.00 WA | 1997.532a-c
05/05/00 | Strong Box, Stage $900.00 w | 20005956
08/11/98" | 7th Calvary Photo A $900.00 WA | 1998.444a
unk Confederate "bowie" marked "CSA" State of Georgia $£500.00 NCWM | NCWM-00264
11/13/98 | Buffalo Beaded Bag w/pipeknive $900.00 W | 1998.872ab




original photograph of outlaw Al Jennings c1915

$875.00

$450.00

11/12/97 WA |1997.534
07/27/06 | Andirons (3239) $850.00 W |200624.1
09/24/99 | Bear Head dress $850.00 W | 1959.402
08/05/95 f;:rﬁi; grv«gljssonD/A lstModci "Frontier® 44 cal. marked %8 50‘00 W 1995.546.9
02/13/95 | Tndian Buffalo Horn Rattle | s800.00 W 1995333
08/12/95 | Badge US Ind police | $800.00 W | 199551652
02/20/03 mopﬁmakom F@y Beaded Ammo Pouch w/1890s $800.00 W 2003.7.1
08/12/95 | Apache Shoulder Bag w/knife $800.00 W [ 1995.51646
09/04/95 | Stetson Hat in box $750.00 W | 19953353
12/05/02 | Genuine Porter Saddle ' $750.00 W 200321
05/02/95 | Fhotograph Indian Sky_R”““h after Apache Attack, Rendall, | ¢4 g WA | 1995.144.130
10/02/98 | 1896 Indian Territory Bill Doolin Gang $700.00 WA | 1998485
05/05/00 | Knife, Frontier - $700.00 W | 200025.17
11/16/97 | Indien male wirevolver, albumen photo $650.00 WA | 1997423
02/22/02 | Whorehouse Box W/Pinire Revolver $650.00 W. | 2002366
09/24/99 ‘| Green Chest (#200) $637.00 W |1999345
05/05/00 | Dice Drop with old Dice $625.00 W |200047.8
11/01/95 | Bistol in Book . | $600.00 W | 1995475.17ab
09/03/98 | San Francisco Cased Dagger $600.00 W 199841220
10/07/02 | Gambler's Gun ‘ $550.00 W |2002.168.1
08/11/98 | Crow Foot, Sitting Bull's son, Barry photo $550.00 ‘WA | 199844.11
11/12/97 | 2 original photographs of Sjou Indians c1380 $525.00 WA | 1997.533a)
08/08/97 | 1898 Al Jennings Signed check (Okla outlaw) $500.00 WA |1997.833
06/29/95 | Sioux or Cheyenne War Trophy knife 1-$500.00 W 1995218.1°
01/28/05 | Original Photo Roswell, NM/Gen. Lee $484.16 W |2005.1124
09/01/97 | Mormon polygamy letter $478.00 WA | 1997316
05/05/00 | Photograph, Bill Dalton & Marshall Lidsey $450.00 WA |2000.44.4
08/20/01 | Sombrero w/Silver Hat Band $450.00 W | 2001805
07/06/01 | Bedu Mask - Gurunsi Tribe, Rep of Upper Voltn AFAM | City list




1996.14:5a,b

02/01/96 | Wells Fargo Mail Bag $400.00 W
02/01/96 | Wells Fargo Mail Bag $400.00 W | 1996.14.5ab
07/27/05 | Rug, Two Grey Hills $400.00 W |20053638
11/14/98 | Platform scales wiweights $400.00 W | 19989430
'10/01/95 | Indian beaded holster for colt lightning pistol $400.00 W | 19954169
08/08/95 | Possee photo $400.00 " WA | 199529228
11/01/97 | 1865 Kansas Letter | $397.00 WA | 1997454
05/20/99 | Green Spitoon from Oriental Saloon in Tombstone $385.00 w 2000.65.138
08/11/98 | Cody Fire Dept w/Buffalo Bill 1907 | s375.00 W | 1998449
05/02/95 | photograph, Railroad track laying crew, Hienze photo, framed | $375.00 WA | 1995.144.78
' 11/01/97 | Indiam-Mining payroll ‘ $367.00 WA | 1997457
04/06/95 %ﬁ:‘lspaper, Daily Denver Times, July 19, 1881 "Billy‘Ihe $365.00 WA 1995372‘
08/21/02 | Texs Fighting Knifs $360.00 W | 2002:172.20
10/03/06 | Cowboy Bathtub $350.00 W |200647.8
05/05/00 | Photograph, Lawman K. Ewing w/Body $350.00 WA | 20004215
{ 11/16/97 | Albumen 3 Apache women photo $325.00 WA 1997421
T11/16/97 | Indian women wichild by Parker/photo $325.00 - WA | 1997425
| 03/01/02 | CopperLadle - ' $318.75 W [2002432
01/15/03 | Childs Bath Tub From Westcliff Ranch 36" $300.00 - W- | 20034320
03/01/02 | Iron Bell | $300.00 W 20025320
08/15/97 | Photo of Indian Burial Ground w/discount $300.00 WA | 1997.85.1
" | 05/05/00 | Stereoview, T. Roosevelt on Horseback $300.00 WA | 200044.18
09/08/01 | Beaded Skull $300.00 W | 20011062
05/05/00 | Photograph, Framed, Conway, Texas $300.00 WA. | 2000.5937
05/02/95 | photograph Ft. Grant, AZ framed $300.00 WA |1995.144.132
08/20/01 | U.S. Whiskey Flask $295.00 W |200197.1
05/02/95 | newspaper, Tombstone epitaph, (sm) framed $285.00 WA | 1995.144.167
08/29/00 | Hanging Lamp Glass Painted Shade $275.00 W | 2000.111.86




Chief & Son, Barry photos & mat -

$200.00

08/11/98 §275.00 wa | 1998.44.10-
08/05/95 | Wells Fargo Corp. Stamp/Seal, prints Exp. Sen Fran, CA- | $275.00 W | 199554610
10/01/95 | Geo. Mason 4 $250.00 WA [ 1995.391.43
08/11/98 | Sitting Bull Camp Ft. Randall stereo §250.00 WA | 1998.44.14
08/25/02 | Custer Posteard Series $250.00 WA | 200223010
'11/01/97 | Govemnor's Rifle Duel letter $227.00 - wA | 1997453
11/16/97 | Cabinet Cord Apache Squaw £225.00 WA" | 1997422
11/16/97 | Two Indian men, o Photo LD. $235.00 " WA | 1997424
03/04/96 | leiter-Indian Fighter Geo. P. Buell Ft Stanton 1881 $225.00 WA | 1996282
110197 | US Commissioner's Complaint $217.00 WA | 1997452
11/01797 |- Arizona Territory Court Document $217.00 WA | 1997.45.1
08/19/01 | 19th Cent. Childs High Chair (Payson, AZ) $215.00 W |2000.78.10
07/27/06 | Yern Winder (2813) $200.00 W | 2006244
08/25/02 | Ferrier Tool Box $200.00 w | 2003333
10/02/98 | 1884 Fort Stanton Broadside $200.00 WA | 1998489
05/05/00 | Photograph, Central City WA | 2000.61.14c




, | Attachment C




02/22/02 | Russizn Miquelet $4,80000 | W |2002.36.1
06/01/95 | Rifle, 1873 Winchester $45000 | W |1995.17535
11/01/95 | Indian Scout rifle in scabbard $2,45000| W | 1995.475.7ab
06/29/95 | 1894 Winchester 38-55 made in 1898 $1,00000 | W |19952182
08/14/95 | 1884 Springfield (Indien) $500000| W |1995303.4
12/09/95 | Winchester 94 Indizn Gun $900.00 | W [ 1995.512.6
07/11/95 | Colt lightning 41 cal. wiholster Lot W | 1995243400

. | Smith & Wesson D/A 15t Model "Frontier" 44 cal. Marked '
0B/0S/95 | oot P | $850.00 1995.546.9
01/12/97 | Gunfighters Remington Pistol (David Rudabangh) $1,600.00 1997.61.4a
08/05/95 | Winchester 1873 carbine 44 cal. 20" bar. Marked Wells Fargo $1,700.00 1995.546.8
01/11/95 | Remington Pistol w/Holster & belt $140000| W |1994203 -
06/27/00 | Flintlock Pistol - Ofibuay/Lakota Wars $1,25000 | W | 2000.80.1

" | 08/27/99 | Meeker Massacre Rifle, Sharps (Relic) Lot W |2000.63.1a
08/10/95 | Doublo Barrel Pin Firo 550000 W |19952946

| 0226/02 | Cheyenne Scabbard, w/ Musket $3,50000| W | 2002.139.24ab
11/20/01 | Robbers Shotgun & Case $1,50000 | W |2002.1343
. | Sioux beaded bar, 1873 Winchester (silver inlaid) Appache ’
03110095 | Lo edeto ‘ 5400000 W | 199554310
03/27/97 | Early 19th Cent Rifle & powder hom $127500 | W |1997.17.1ab
09/04/95 | Leman Indian trade rifle $4,50000 | W | 199533530
10/03/06 | Rifle, Model 73 Winchester 44-40 $2,80000 | W |2006.47.4




